How the **Catholic** Church is the Same and How it is Different from **Other** Christian

Churches

Fourth Edition

This book is for... Roman Catholics (Pre and Post Vatican II) Separated Catholics, Non-Catholics, and Anti-Catholics

COME AND SEE

Franklin J. Dailey, M.D.

I pray that all clergy and teachers of the "Faith" (and parents) will carefully read pages VII, VIII, IX and X: This forward in my book gives a researched analysis of why we have lost so many of our young and middle aged Catholics since the 1950's and why, according to "Business Week Publication", "the only growth in the Catholic Church is because of Immigrants". These views were strongly voiced by Fr. Corapi, S.T.D. recently on "Sacred Heart Radio." - see Editorials by Fr. Ken Baker (also Pages 64-68 on Doctrine of Satan, Page 51, Dissident Theologians).

To order reprints of this book, please contact:

P. O. Box 9522 San Bernardino, CA 92427-0522 www.catholic-soe.org

1 Book = \$5.00

For a CD (90 Minutes) upon which this book is based,
ADD \$2.00 ADDITIONAL.

For five or more books, add \$2.00 per book,
plus \$1.00 each for each CD - if you wish both.

All persons working with the Society are volunteers, and all money received goes to production and distribution of Orthodox Roman Catholic literature and tapes which are based on the teachings of the Magisterium of the Church as outlined in the Official Catechism of the Catholic Church.

Neither the author nor other workers receive any compensation from the proceeds of these books, CD's or tapes.

We do ask for your prayers for us, our families and benefactors living and deceased.

Fourth Edition Printed by: **A to Z Printing Company** 4330 Van Buren Blvd. Riverside, CA 92503 (951)689-4411

How The Catholic Church Is The Same and How it is Different from Other Christian Churches

Fourth Edition

(Also read "Catholics and the Bible" by this author with many additional scripture quotations,
Bible History and Doctrines.)

by

Franklin J. Dailey, M.D.

KINGDOM OF HEAVEN (Matthew 5:10,11). HOW THIS BOOK CAME TO BE

One evening in the Emergency Room at our hospital, I sutured a laceration on the head of a pretty little six-year-old girl. On her chart, I noted that her father was a minister, so I said to him, "This will heal just as Christ is our personal Savior."

He replied, "Oh, are you a Protestant?"

"No," I answered, "I am a Roman Catholic."

"You Catholics believe that Christ is your personal Savior?" he asked.

"Yes," I said, "the Catholic Church has been teaching that for almost 2000 years,"

Then he asked, "But are you Catholics allowed to read the Bible?"

"Yes," I answered, "the Catholic Church has been teaching the Bible for almost 2000 years."

He replied, "I did not know that. What other truths do we share?"

So, I outlined below the beliefs that we Catholic Christians share with our brother Christians.

WHAT ALL TRUE CHRISTIANS BELIEVE, INCLUDING CATHOLIC CHRISTIANS

- 1. God is Master and Creator of all things.
- God created us to share all that He has.
- 3. The Bible is revelation from God, revealing who He is, who we are and what we must believe and do to share His Kingdom.
- 4. Man separated himself from a touching relationship with God (original sin), and of himself, had no way to return to God. (John 3;13)(Rom: 5-12)
- 5. The Jewish religion was the one true religion until Christ.
- 6. Christ came to fulfill and sanctify the Jewish religion, and to further teach us what we must believe (faith), and how we must conduct ourselves (morals) to be in His family. (Matt. 5; 17-20)

Christ came to give us definitive and authoritative guidance, to sanctify us, i.e., to cleanse us of all sins: and begins by telling us, We <u>must all</u> be baptized unto Christ.(John 3;1-13)(I assume this includes infants; as does the Jewish religion in Circumcision: not excluded, so must be included!)

- 7. THERE IS ONLY ONE WAY FOR US TO BE UNITED TO GOD, AND THAT ONE WAY IS JESUS CHRIST! With the cross on our church, the crucifix on our altar, and each time that we make "The Sign of the Cross" over our bodies, we proclaim that Christ Crucified is our one and only and personal way of salvation.
- 8. Christ outlines who He is, why He came, what we must do to be saved, and who opposes Him. (St. John 3;14-27)

After I outlined the beliefs that we share with our brother Christian's faith, the minister then asked, "Then what are the differences?" I replied:

THERE ARE NO DIFFERENCES, BUT, IN ADDITION TO THESE BELIEFS, ALL TRUE CATHOLICS BELIEVE:

- 1. Christ extended His own Priesthood through His twelve apostles and their successors, in an unbroken line, for a continuing close, touching relationship to Him (so that they could act in "His person" i.e. "persona Christ"). (John 15:12-21; John 20: 19-23, Acts 1: 24-26)
- 2. Christ instituted certain signs which, when combined with "the Spirit," would establish or strengthen a very special <u>personal touching by Jesus</u> ("born of the water and the spirit"), and receive an outpouring of His love (grace) into our souls. (Sacraments)

All Christians accept that this personal touching and sanctification occurs through a "sign and the Spirit" in the Sacrament of Baptism. The Catholic Church recognizes additional "Sacraments" for the purpose of spiritual healing, nutrition, confirming our relationship with Christ, starting our families, dedication to His service, and at our death. (See page 23)

- 3. Christ established an authority (St. Peter and his successors) "upon" whom He promised to found His Church and make decisions so that is would be "one fold and one shepherd." "All may be one, as the Father and I are one . . . perfected in unity." (Matthew 16:16-20; also see John 21:15-17; John 17:20-23; John 10:16, Eph. 4;13)
- 4. Christ also endowed His church with the authority to "bind or to loose" and to "cast out those who would not accept its authority" (Matt 18:18). In Acts 15, vs. 6 through 12 the Bible gives up the guidelines how this authority of Peter and the Church was (and is today) carried out. They gathered together the apostles (bishops) and presbyter (priest), discussed the matter at hand and then "Peter got up" and reminded them that he was chosen to make these deci-

sions etc. (vs. 7 & 8) and that his decision was accepted (vs. 13); and the gathering accepted in faith (as we do today) that "the Holy Spirit and we" (vs. 28) made this decision. (Page 35, Church is the Body of Christ)

Discussing the beliefs of all Christian churches, and the additional beliefs of the Catholic Church, is what this little book is all about. My hope is that everyone, even the staunchest non-Catholic Christians, will find something in this book to strengthen his or her own faith in Jesus Christ as Lord and Savior, because Jesus Christ is the Alpha and the Omega – the beginning and the end!

OUTSIDE FRONT COVER DEDICATION

This book is dedicated to the most exceptional and loving woman that I have ever known, my mother, Mrs. Rose Mary Boukal Dailey, and to her children, my brothers and sisters, and my loving wife Florence Rose Connors Dailey, who with all of immediate family are now with God.

And to my son, John, and his lovely wife, Sandy, and to my grandson, Michael. They are a joy to my life!

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A very special acknowledgement to my nephew, Mr. Michael Wourms, who laboriously transcribed most of the contents of this book from a tape I recorded at a lecture I gave at a Pre-Cana class.

And to Mrs. Helen Jackson and Paul Giem, M.D., and my best friend, Mr. Walt Abraham, who helped critique the contents.

Also, my thanks to Tom Balboa, Joe and Barbara Bonadiman for their editing of the second and third editions.

To my dear wife Florence who over the years corrected and typed and re-typed mounds of



Dr. Franklin J. Dailey

material before publication.

FORWARD

Dr. Franklin J. Dailey, became deeply concerned because many of the young people he cared for as patients were dropping away from the Catholic Church.

In talking with these youngsters, he discovered they did not know their faith despite the fact that many of them had been through twelve years of Catholic schooling.

How could this be? Dr. Dailey looks at the reasons:

In the years before the Vatican II Council, the Catholic Church hierarchy was strong on memorizing church doctrine and the do's and don'ts of being a Catholic. These

methods produced good practicing Catholics, but many had very little understanding of where the Church teachings came from, the Bible, or of the development of Catholic doctrine and practices.

What was accomplished through the memorizing and the do's and don'ts was good and necessary, but what was NOT accomplished – learning and understanding Scripture and tradition – led to a Church catastrophe. After Vatican II, when many external, traditional practices were changed, and certain doctrines were challenged, many knew not the words of our Lord in scripture, "and were washed away" (Matthew 7:21-27).

In this Post-Vatican II period, confusion became so dominant that some teachers "threw out the baby with the bath water." They were not teaching the doctrine and the do's and don'ts, nor were they teaching the Bible and Tradition. Some used their "feelings" and "experiences" to create dogma and situational doctrine, and they reduced the Bible to mere human "experience."

Consequently, young people were left with no roots to anchor them, no compass to guide them except their own experience. In fact, Salvation History was turned back 4000 years to before Abraham!

Some people, both Catholic and Protestant, went so far as to deny that the Holy Bible is revelation from God through man; rather,

they contend, it is merely the "experience of the author or the faith community." They deny original sin and the redemption by Christ, they deny the necessity of Baptism, they deny the physical resurrection of Christ, and they even deny that the commandments must be obeyed.

It is all too apparent where their "non-teaching" and liberal attitudes have led us as a society, resulting in broken homes, promiscuous sex, abortion as a form of birth control, homosexuality as an accepted way of life and, as a consequence, runaway venereal disease and AIDS.

At the same time, in the Church we see the open rejection of authority and prayer life, an unwillingness to accept sacrifice and "to take up His cross" — resulting in a critical loss of vocations and the loss of souls to Satan.

So called "dissenting" theologians cause scandal and confusion when they promote ideas that are contrary to Church doctrine. "They do not serve Christ, but their own belly" (Romans 16:17). Those who follow them would be wise to listen to the words of I Timothy 6:20:

"Avoid the profane talk and foolish arguments of what some people wrongly call 'knowledge.' For some have claimed to possess it, and as a result they have lost the way of faith."

Professing to be wise, these dissenting theologians "have become fools" (Romans 1:22). They promise freedom, but they themselves are slaves of corruption — by high-sounding words (2 Peter 2:17-19), teaching instead the "precepts of man" (Matthew 15:8), disguising themselves as apostles of Christ, but actually serving as angels of Satan. (2 Cor. 11;13-5)

The dissenting theologians have set themselves up as an alternative authority, rejecting and opposing the authority Christ established; these haughty men will not be swayed by "pastoral council" or gentle coaxing. The way back from this moral confusion, THE ONLY WAY BACK, is to teach what Christ taught the way that He taught it, and to remove all clergy, religious or others who refuse to so teach.

Would this be interfering with academic freedom? A person on the street may argue and teach that the world is flat, but would a university tolerate a science teacher who would teach such a fallacy? Would removing him as a science teacher be interference with academic freedom? Should a theologian who teaches what is NOT Catholic doctrine be allowed to teach in a Catholic school as a "Catholic" theologian?

"Anyone who does not stay with the teaching of Christ, but goes beyond it, does not have God. Whoever does stay with the teaching has both the Father and the Son. So then, if someone comes to you who does not bring this teaching, do not welcome him in your homes; do not even say 'Peace be with you.' For anyone who wishes him peace becomes his partner in the evil things he does" (2 John 9-11).

Today, in many of our churches and schools, many who have not the doctrine of Christ are made welcome. When we allow them, we share in the evil that they do.

The intent of this book is to inform and encourage the faithful to rise up and support the Holy Father and those clergy and theologians who represent him and Church doctrine and to resist those who are serving confusion and dissension in Christ's Church.

But those who choose to challenge these false teachers should be prepared to be ridiculed and spat upon because "their magisterium of liberal theologies" is far less tolerant and far more chastening than the Magisterium of the Roman Catholic Church ever was. But if you are chosen to be one who is ridiculed and persecuted for His name sake (and teachings) – rejoice, for yours is THE

Note: Even the Holy Spirit may not add to or subtract from that which is "The Body of Christ" "His Church", so any mere man who does so is certainly not inspired by the "Holy Spirit" "The Holy Spirit will teach you all truth. For He will not speak on His own authority, but what He will hear, He will speak...He will receive of what is mine and declare it to you. For He will not speak on His own authority". (St. John 16;12-16)

Every Catholic has the right and obligation to confront any group, person, teacher, priest, or even his bishop if they represent themselves as "Catholic" and bring you a doctrine which God (His Church) had not commanded. (i.e. which is not in agreement with the Catechism of the Catholic Church. "But the teacher, corrupted with pride, shell speak in my name things that I did not command him to say....shall be condemned". (Deuth. 18; 20)

JUST BE A GOOD PERSON – IS THAT ALL YOU NEED TO DO TO BE SAVED?

Just to be a "good person" is all that you need to do? You can just pray in the mountains or your home? You don't need a church or an altar or a priest?

I think that of all the people who lived and died before Christ, there were many good and holy people such as Moses and the prophets, etc. Yet till the time of Christ, He tells us that "no one has ascended into heaven (because of original sin?) except him who has descended from heaven: the Son of man who is in heaven." (St. John 3:13) So just being a good person, etc. will not get you in to heaven.

And Christ goes on to say, in verses. 14 & 15 that he must be crucified that we "may have ever lasting life." (i.e. Cleansed of our sins. Only one equal to God can make reparation to God.) And in verses 16 through 21 Jesus declares that our only salvation is in and through Him, and anyone who does not accept Him is already judged.

And can we be "cafeteria christians" who can pick and choose what part of Christ we will accept?? Or must we accept the "Total Christ": ALL of His teaching, authority and ways and means of forgiveness of sin and sanctification?? (St. Matthew 7; 21, 37)

And where do we find this total Christ? I repeat, Christ had only one "body" in life, and one "body" today described beautifully by St. Paul as "His Church" existing for two thousand years as Christ taught it, sanctified it in truth (St. John 17: 19), perfected in unity (St. John 17; 23) continuity of His priesthood (St. John 15; 16, 17 & St. John 20; 21, 23 & Acts 1; 23, 26). And Jesus gives a stern warning to those who ignore Him and His teaching. "If I had not come and spoken to them (you), they (you) would have no sin. But now they (you) have no excuses for your sin (St. John 15, 22).

The Jews had Christ in their presence, but many did not accept Him because they listened to His enemies, or just did not want to be bothered. They closed their minds to truth, and were lost.

I pray that anyone who picks up this book will open their mind to what is the Catholic Church and her teachings, and make judgment based on truth, and not based on what they might have heard from her enemies, or misinformed: and pray that their judgment of truth not be distorted by the personal conduct they have experienced from any "Catholic" or even "Catholic" priest or bishop. (Even one chosen by Christ Himself, sinned and betrayed Him & even the leader of the apostles (Peter) denied Him three times.) (Church is the body of Christ. See page 52.)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
A Pilgrim's Journey X	II
CHAPTER 1	
Does God Exist?	1
CHAPTER 2	
If God Exists, Why Did He Create You?	
What is Bad or Good?	9
Follow the Divine Road Map 1	1
Bible and Tradition	2
CHAPTER 3	
The Beliefs Catholics Share With Others 18	
God-Bible-Original Sin-Christ Savior-Passover-Cross.	
Salvation	
CHAPTER 4	
Sacraments: Baptism, Priesthood, Confession, etc.	
The Lord's Day	
The Church is "The Body of Christ	6
CHAPTER 5	
The Authority of Peter and The Authority of the Pope 3	
Dissident Theologians	
What is the Church? 5	
Matter of Conscience 5	6
CHAPTER 6	
Mary in the Church 5	9
CHAPTER 7	
Purgatory 6	1
CHAPTER 8	
Satan and His Doctrine 6	4
CHAPTER 9	
Additional Thoughts on Catholics and Protestants 69	9
CHAPTER 10	
Why Be a Catholic? Summation of Catholic Teaching 79	
Summation of Our Faith 8.	2
CHAPTER 11	
Your Journey Has Not Ended! 8-	4
APPENDIX	
Implementing the New Catechism 8	9

INTRODUCTION

A PILGRIM'S JOURNEY

Welcome to an exciting journey!

In the following pages, you will become a Spiritual Pilgrim searching, traveling, and looking for a better home. The Pilgrims who came to America in 1620 landed at Plymouth Rock: They were looking for a better place to live, as were the pilgrims who laboriously traveled west across this country back in the 1800's.

Today, we too are pilgrims, traveling through this life, looking for a better home. And your today is the tomorrow you were thinking about yesterday. (The <u>church</u> on earth is classified as "The Pilgrim Church")

One day, as you near the completion of your own personal journey, you will realize that many years have passed which, at one time, was your future.

Everything in your life is something that is coming and will have come to pass.

Everything except one thing: when you enter into the next life.

That will not be a temporary stay; it will be your permanent home; you will never again be a searching pilgrim.

To help you get to your permanent destination, it is vital that you have a map; to get there, you must know where your are going.

For example, let's say I was in an accident and you were kind enough to stop and help me. To express my appreciation, I handed you a gold coin, worth about 500 dollars.

Of course, you would be pleased.

But suppose I said to you, "I have a thousand more of these same gold coins buried under the northeast corner of the Red Dog Saloon in Creede, Colorado. If I die, I want you to have the treasure."

Then, the next moment, I died.

What would you do?

You probably would not even go home to pack! You would go straight to Creede, Colorado!

But where is Creede, Colorado?

It is a little Wild West town. The man who killed Jesse James was killed and buried there. It is north of Durango, Colorado, by about one hundred miles. It sits way up in a canyon and you do not get to

Creede by accident. If you arrive at Creede, that is the place where you wanted to go! You will be there because you so planned it.

You will never pass through Creede, Colorado, accidentally.

To get to Creede, you need a map.

Well, the Kingdom of God is a place where I want to go. It is the place where searching, spiritual Pilgrims who travel through this life want to go - but you need a map to get there.

Is there such a map?

Yes.

THE HOLY BIBLE, SACRED TRADITION AND THE CHURCH.

These form the divine map. The Bible is God's written word, Sacred Tradition is the oral teachings of Jesus and His Apostles which were written down by their disciples, and the Church, which is the pillar and foundation of the truth (1 Tim 3:16). With these as our guide, and the promise of Christ at the Last Supper that He would send the Holy Spirit to guide the Church for all time, God has provided all the information that we need in order to serve Him faithfully and to be found worthy to spend eternity with Him in heaven.

If you have not seriously looked at God's map in the past, or, if you did not understand that map, then perhaps this book will help you.

We spend so much time preparing ourselves for this life and so little for the next.

In my own case, I went to high school, four years of college, four years of medical school, and four years of specialty training - 24 years of study – just so I could go out and earn a living in this life treating patients as a doctor!

But the much more important question is, "How much time have I spent in preparing for my next life?"

Hopefully, this little book will help motivate you to spend more of your time properly preparing for the remainder of your journey as a Pilgrim's through this life in preparation for the next.

You may also find in following God's map on this journey that the journey itself, your life, will be more directed, enjoyable and fulfilling!

May God richly bless you as you begin your journey!

Franklin J. Dailey, M.D.

To Summarize: There are only two things that are really important in this life:

- 1. Where your go when you leave it!
- 2. (To borrow a phrase from my friend Tom Balboa.)
 Who did you bring with you? Did you share and pass-on what you had?

1 - DOES GOD EXIST?

How do you actually know there is a God?

After all, why do you want to spend your life as a Spiritual Pilgrim thinking about somebody if He is not even there?

So, we start with this basic question.

"Does God exist?"

That is the question I started to ask in my youth. I questioned and probed, seemingly driving the priests and nuns crazy with my constant questions. The question of God's existence was far too important for me to sit back in a classroom and simply say "Yes" to everything I was taught.

So, I said, "Prove it."

Down through the centuries, many theologians and philosophers have wrestled with this primary question. St. Thomas Aquinas came up with five reasons why he believed that God existed. Some people have fewer reasons and still others have come up with many more.

After years of study, thinking, and questioning, I came up with the following reasons why I believe there is a God: The Creation of the World, Miracles, and finally, Fulfilled Prophecies.

Let us take a closer look at each.

1) God Exists Because Of Creation.

A few years ago I was on a plane going to Denver, Colorado, and a young man was sitting next to me. I said something to him about God.

He responded, "I'm an atheist."

I said "Really? Then tell me, how did all of the universe get here – the moon, the stars, the planets?"

"Oh, well, some unknown force created it," he responded confidently. "Science acknowledges it; it's a scientific fact. The universe started out as a big mass and then it exploded out into the space."

I then asked, "Who made the mass?"

"Well, some force," he replied.

"Okay, I'll accept that," I answered. "Was it an Intelligent force?"

"I suppose so," he responded. "If there is an intelligence to the universe, then I suppose it must have come from some sort of an intelligent force."

"Well, that intelligence is God," I summarized.

He said, "That's God?"

I said, "Yes."

Like it or not, that is about all our minds are capable of knowing about God. We cannot conceive anything more about God except that there had to be an intelligent force of creation – and God is that force.

You either believe the intelligent force was God or you must believe that a big unknown mass somehow had intelligence, and there is no scientific evidence that any form of mass in our universe has ever demonstrated one degree of intelligence.

Anything else we know about God is because of what He has chosen to reveal to us. Our minds do not have a high enough level of intelligence to comprehend much about God's nature except that which He decided to share through revelation.

Do you have a dog? Could you ever teach your dog to speak the English language? Of course not. He does not have that high level of intelligence. Could you ever teach that dog the value of the gold coin?

No.

A dog cannot comprehend much more than a few basic instincts and commands.

Yet, the dog lives in our world and we talk to him and do things with him, but his level of intelligence and understanding cannot begin to approach that of a human being.

Man is obviously much more gifted than any dog; man is the most intelligent life known on planet earth. Yet, our highly developed intellects cannot begin to parallel the intelligent force Who created this vast universe!

Even if your I.Q. is over 200, and you are a member of Mensa, you do not have the level of intelligence necessary to understand the complexities of God. He has existed from the beginning and will live forever. There is no intelligence on this earth that can ever comprehend that type of nature.

Our finite minds do not like to admit this sort of limitation but, until we are able to create our own universe out of absolutely nothing, we must conclude that an intelligent force <u>far beyond</u> anything our finite minds could ever comprehend created matter!

An atheist is an atheist because his human mind cannot comprehend this; he rejects what he cannot understand! Yet, he accepts electricity, which no human mind can fully understand! He accepts it because of what it does, i.e., its effect.

Once a student told me, "I cannot accept the concept of eternity." "Did you ever go out in the night and look at the stars in the sky?" I asked.

He said, "Yes."

I asked, "Do you know how many stars there are?"

"No, I have no idea," he replied.

"Neither does anybody else," I told him.

In the book of Genesis, in Chapter 15, God discusses the stars with Abram. God selected Abram to become the father of His people, so He changed his name to Abraham, which means, "honored father of the multitude."

But before God changed his name, He said, "Abram, go out in the night and look at the stars in the sky. Can you count them?"

Abram said, "No, Lord."

God said, "No man can count them."

And to this day, even with the highly sophisticated satellites and modern scientific instruments at our disposal, no man has ever been able to begin to accurately count all the stars in the sky. The Milky Way alone is estimated to contain some 400 billion stars all moving in a complex and orderly fashion.

God said to Abram, "I have chosen you to be the father of my nation and your offspring will be like the stars in the sky. I hereby change you name to Abraham."

The farthest star that I know about is approximately ten billion light-years away. Our sun is just nine minutes away by light traveling at 186,000 miles a second. If it takes nine minutes for the sun's light to get to earth, imagine how far out those stars are that are ten billion light-years away!

And after you go past that last star, how much farther can you go into space?

Science does not know.

High-powered telescopes have captured pictures of colliding galaxies about 50 million light-years away. The Hercules cluster of galaxies is estimated to be in excess of 30 million light-years distant.

We do know that creation is of such a magnitude that no man can truly comprehend it and that no "accidental force" could have created it.

I believe God made our universe so large because He wanted it to mirror a minuscule part of the magnitude of eternity. We will never comprehend eternity, but viewing the magnitude of our universe helps us understand the immensity of our God.

In my heart, I know God exists because of what I feel. In my mind, I know God exists because of creation.

Even modern science agrees that everything on this planet was not always here and that it had to start somewhere.

I believe it started with God, the intelligent force of creation.

2) God Exists Because Of Miracles.

What is a miracle?

I was giving a talk in Rudolph, Wisconsin, a few years ago, and the priest asked me to speak to a class of six-year-olds. My approach in speaking to youngsters is to talk with them the same way I talk with adults; so, I explained to them that "There is a God because of creation, miracles, and fulfilled prophecy."

Then I asked this question, not expecting the profound answer I received: "Does anybody here know what a miracle is?"

A little girl popped up her tiny hand immediately and I thought, "Boy, am I going to get a good one here from this little six-year-old." I said, "Okay, honey, what's a miracle?"

"A miracle is something that can't happen but does happen," she replied.

Theologians could not give you a better definition.

A miracle is something that cannot happen in the natural order; it must happen by supernatural means. We know there is a God because all through both the Old and New Testaments there are miracles that prove the presence of God.

We accept that Christ is God because of His miracles. Had Christ not performed any miracles, had He not risen from the dead, we would not believe He was God. It would not matter that His thoughts and the writings about Him were beautiful and insightful.

Christ is God, and He proved it by His miracles! By instantly healing lepers, by turning water into wine, by driving out demons, by bringing the dead back to life, by walking on water, by His resurrection.

And miracles still go on in our world today!

Throughout the centuries, as in the time of Christ, God always sent His messengers to give warnings, especially when people were headed in the wrong spiritual direction. Usually, the message would say, "If you do not turn back now to My way, something is going to happen."

If the people did not then return to the ways of God, something did happen, just as He promised. If they returned back to the way of God, He blessed them, such as in Chapter 3 of Jonah:

"God saw what they did; He saw that they had given up their wicked behavior. So He changed His mind and did not punish them as He had said He would" (Jonah 3:10).

It is no different now.

If His people are going away from His direction, He will send a messenger again, and that messenger will have a miracle.

This happened on May 13, 1917, when Christ sent Mary, His Mother, as a messenger. Mary visited three little children in Fatima, a small town in Portugal. In 1917, the world was at war.

Mary said, "I am going to give a message to you to give to the world." The children said, "But we are just little kids."

She said, "Do not be afraid. I will give the people a sign so they will believe."

She appeared to the three children five times over a period of five different months. These children went through many personal persecutions because of these visions. Other children made fun of them, taunting them for their claims to have seen visions. At one point, they were even jailed.

The children told Mary, "The people in our town are making fun of us; they are giving us a lot of problems."

Mary said, "A miracle will occur that will prove that this is a message from God. On the 13th day of October of this year, God will perform a miracle at one o'clock in the afternoon at the Cova."

And the word spread over much of Portugal.

On the 13th of October, about 70,000 people (including journalists, dignitaries, etc.) gathered at the Cova to see whether the miracle was going to occur. It rained all morning long right up until exactly one o'clock, when Mary said the miracle would take place.

Exactly at one o'clock the rain stopped. The clouds parted, and the sun seemed to go back and forth in the sky, and then, it suddenly seemed to start falling upon the people. The spectators fell on their knees. The government had sent people to disprove any possible fraudulent event, and yet the government agents were on their knees with the others.

Just as suddenly, the sun went back into the sky. Then God said, "I'll do it twice to prove it."

A second time, the sun seemed to come upon them. Those in the crowd thought it was the end of the world. But the sun went up into the sky, leaving everybody miraculously stone dry. They were soaked and wet one moment, and dry the next.

Many people who had illnesses were healed miraculously.

The message from God was proved by a miracle, and miracles prove that God exists. Many books have been written about Fatima, and it is suggested that you read about Fatima, because if the message and events are true, then it is God's revelation in our day. God gave us no new doctrines at Fatima; instead, He chose to remind us once again, as He has done so many times through history, to repent and pray and return to His Holy ways. Those who attribute the miracles and vision at Fatima to be the work of Satan must read Matthew 12:22, and 37 where Christ was accused of being "the prince of the devils." His answer there certainly applies here.

God Exists Because Of Fulfilled Prophecies. (Note: If a prophecy comes true then it is from God (Deuteronomy 18;18-22))

All through the Old and New Testament, God performed miracles and issued prophecies to prove that future events were coming from the hand of God.

It is impossible in this book to document all the prophecies that are recorded in the Bible; there are more than 200 concerning the birth, life, death, and resurrection of Jesus alone!

To help illustrate the point, the following list five prophecies are here for you to look up in your Spiritual Pilgrim's journey:

1. Jesus Christ was to be born of David's family:

The prophecy: Isaiah 9:6-7
The fulfillment: Matthew 22:42-46

2. Jesus Christ would be born in Bethlehem:

The prophecy: Micah 5:2
The fulfillment: Matthew 2:6
3. The side of Jesus Christ would be pierced:
The prophecy: Zechariah 12:10

The fulfillment: John 19:37

4. Jesus Christ would rise from the dead after three days:

The prophecy: Psalm 16:1-11
The fulfillment: Acts 2:25-32

5. Jesus would be betrayed for 30 pieces of silver:
The prophecy: Zechariah 11:12-13

The fulfillment: Matthew 27:9-10

These and the many other prophetic declarations in the Holy

Bible demonstrate that, without a doubt, God does exist, and can prophetically predict, with one hundred percent accuracy, the history of man.

Prophecies continue in our present day; they happened again in 1917 at Fatima. The prophecies given at Fatima were:

- 1. World War I would soon be over. That prophecy came to pass.
- 2. If people did not repent of their ways, another world war would come during the reign of Pope Pius XII. At the time of this prophecy, no one even knew there would be a Pope Pius XII, yet it was declared in prophecy that he would reign when World War II started. It happened!
- 3. Lucy, one of the children Mary appeared to at Fatima, accurately told the Pope when World War II was going to start.
- 4. Mary told the three children that Francisco and Jacinta Marto both would die within two years of her appearance at Fatima and that only Lucy dos Santos would remain to give Mary's message to the world. Francisco and Jacinta did die within the time frame God gave to Mary, and Lucy continues to live, at the time this is written, becoming a nun in Spain. (Lucy has since died.)
- 5. Mary declared that if the world did not repent after World War II, God would allow the evils of Communism to spread throughout the world. Today, more than half of the world is enslaved by some form of Communism, including more than one billion people in China alone!
- A yet to be fulfilled prophecy was that if God's people still do not repent, He will allow Russia to chastise the entire world.

Remember this: in 1917 Russia did not have the power to chastise even Riverside, California. If ultimately, we are chastised by Russia, whom do we blame? The president of the United States or of Russia?

No, we will have only ourselves to blame.

Us.

Mary said if we will repent, say the rosary, and come back to the ways of God, there will be no war with Russia; instead, God will convert Russia. But, if we do not repent, and turn back to the will of the Lord, we will be chastised by Russia. Then, after that, Russia will be converted. Is this danger now over?

Probably not.

The result of this final prophecy is in our hands (just as with the

people of Nineveh in Chapter Three of Jonah.)

In summation, we know there is a God because of creation, miracles, and fulfilled prophecies.

There just is no reasonable explanation for these three phenomena except that THERE IS A GOD!

Incidentally, we declared war on Japan on December 8, 1941, the feast of the Immaculate Conception of Mary; Emperor Hirohito announces by radio the surrender of Japan to the U.S., ending the war, on August 15, 1945, which was on the feast day of the "Assumption of Mary". Coincidence that the war predicted by her would start and end on the two major feast days of Mary?

In summary, the message at Fatima contained:

- 1. No new doctrine.
- 2. The message was identical to that of the Bible: repent, pray, accept Christ as Savior, and sin no more.
- 3. A massive miracle given by God to prove that this was a message from God through His spokesperson, Mary. The miracle was that of the sun seeming to fall out of the sky; miraculous healing of the lame and the sick and the immediate drying of the earth and people, having been soaked with rain only moments before. This witnessed by about 70,000 people.
- 4. To pray the rosary each day.
- 5. <u>I repeat, God tells us in the Bible "If a prophecy comes true it is from God"</u> (Deuth. 18; 18-22) But if a prophet presumes to speak on or in my name an oracle that I have not commanded him to speak...He shall die.) (Deuth. 18:20)

NOTE: At the "Marriage Feast at Cana", we have the last words spoken by Mary that are recorded in the Holy Bible, "his mother said to the attendants "Do whatever he (my son) tells you". (St. John 2:5)

For two thousand years every one of the many apparition of Mary; she has essentially repeated that same message "Do what my son has told you to do".

2 – IF GOD EXISTS, WHY DID HE CREATE YOU? WHAT IS BAD OR GOOD?

If you are like most of us, you have often wondered "Why did God create me?"

Let's answer that question with another question.

Did you really want children when you first got married?

Perhaps not.

Because, among other things, you knew there would be diapers to change, clothes to buy, medical bills, and lots of worry.

If we were left to just the stark realities of raising children, many young couples might decide not to have a family.

But there is so much more to a child than the daily problems.

Children enable you to share yourself with others. They enable you to love somebody, and to receive love in return.

Why did God create you? Same reason!

Because God wanted to share Himself, to show His love, and to have someone like you to love Him in return.

But if God just placed you in heaven, your life would have little meaning. To make it meaningful, God had to give us a free will and an opportunity to choose.

So God created the entire universe to give you a place to be born and to grant you the opportunity of making a choice to spend all eternity with Him or to spend it somewhere else.

While on the earth, you have two primary choices – God or the world. We choose the world in place of God when we use the world for the sake of the world, not for the sake of good and of God.

In this world, everything God created is good. When we use things the way God intended them to be used, that is good.

For example, in marriage, when we have sex with our spouse, that is good and pleasing to God. He intends for us to have sex in marriage and to enjoy it.

So what is bad?

Bad is misusing the things (gifts) God has given to us.

When we have sex outside of marriage – as in homosexuality, masturbation, fornication and adultery – that is abusing God's intended purpose for the gift of sex and it becomes "sinful."

The same principle applied in other areas.

When we eat and gorge ourselves (gluttony) until we become sick, it is sinful.

When we eat as we should, to nourish our body, that is good and pleasing to God.

On your pilgrim's spiritual journey, the first question to ask yourself in any situation is "Am I using these gifts the way God intends them to be used?"

The second question to ask yourself comes from a Protestant minister who told me one day, "In whatever you are doing, ask yourself if Christ could come and join you or bless what you are doing?"

Your answer tells you whether it is right or wrong.

The Bible and the Church help you separate your emotions from what you "feel" is right or wrong to that which God has "revealed" to us as right or wrong, and we must always place Gods word over and above what we feel, or our "experience."

God said to respect our bodies and respect our relationship with each other. It is when we abandon ourselves to the things of the world that we separate ourselves from God. If we do not respect and use properly the things that God has given us in this life, what do we deserve in our next life?

Once a person asked me, "What is judgment going to be like?" I said, "Well, it might be something like this. God may have two pictures of you: one of what you could have been, and one of what you are. He will show you these two pictures. You will see with whom you will spend eternity." (See page 59: Bishop Sheen.)

Does a deer run with wolves? A snake knows that he must crawl in the bowels of the earth with other snakes. No one has to tell these animals what they are.

So what do we have to be afraid of?

God?

Nο

We should be afraid of ourselves and our choices.

What is God doing all the time we are choosing?

God is calling, Come to Me. Let Me cleanse you, let Me purify you, let Me make you better then what you are.

Three days after I told this story about spending eternity with others like yourself, I got a call from one of my students.

"Is what you said about judgment Church doctrine? Is that the teaching of the Catholic Church?" he asked me in a rather frantic, worried tone.

"Well, the Church does teach we shall be rewarded for that which is good, and punished for that which is bad," I replied. "Why do you ask?"

"My wife hasn't been able to sleep for three nights," he told me.

"Why?" I asked, somewhat puzzled. "What did I say to disturb her sleep?"

"Well, she's a chronic complainer," he told me, "and now she's afraid she'll spend all eternity with other complainers."

We got the message across, didn't we?

What could be worse than an alcoholic spending all eternity with other alcoholics, slobbering and vomiting over each other?

Or an abuser spending eternity in the company of other abusers?

Remember, Christ's words, "I did not come to judge the world" (John 12:47), "but to save the world."

God in His love could not condemn a person, but in fairness to justice, He may allow a person to see themselves for what they ARE and then they judge themselves.

Follow The Divine Road Map -

God gives us a map to use. He tells us what to believe (faith), and what we must do (morals).

But how do we know the Bible is the true road map, the true Word of God?

The same way you know that God exists – through creation, miracles and fulfilled prophecies. Miracles and fulfilled prophesies are many – both in the Old and New Testament.

One word about the Bible before we proceed.

None of the New Testament was written until about 30 years after the death of Christ. By that time, there were churches all over the known world and they were established without a New Testament. How were they teaching? The Apostles were teaching only what Christ had orally passed on to them. (Tradition, New Testament)

The Church did not come from the Bible rather the Bible came from the Church. (and the Catholic church confirmed that the old Testament is Revelation from God.)

The Church was founded, structured and sanctified by Jesus Christ and He appointed His twelve apostles to be the instruments of bringing His Church to the world. He promised that He would send the Holy Spirit to inspire and guide His Church for all time (John 14:16; John 16:13-15). Again, the Church existed long before there was the written word, which we call the New Testament.

Thirty years after the Church was born (Pentecost), the apostles began writing down what our Lord said and did. This was done for future generations as evidence of what the Church was actually teaching. That is why the Catholic Church can say, "Yes, the Bible is God's Word because God inspired His Church to produced it."

In addition to Scripture, we also go back in Church history and discover how the early Christians understood what was being taught at that time. "We teach, not in words taught by human wisdom, but in the learning of the Spirit" (1 Cor. 2:13).

This teaching process is called Sacred Tradition.

Tradition can never be in conflict with Scripture; it is simply another source of information. Tradition goes back into the history of the Church, into what was being taught 2,000 years ago.

We Catholics turn to the leaders of the Church, who are the successors of St. Peter and the apostles, for complete understanding. We go back to the earliest Church and say, "This is what we understood then, and this is what we understand now."

Catholics accept the Bible as God's Word. This is documented in the Catechism of the Catholic Church 105.

We also accept the authority of Tradition – the teachings of the Church at the time of the apostles – to help us understand what was actually meant by what Christ taught.

Tradition, then, in this sense, (is always written with a capital T: Post-apostolic traditions are called Ecclesiastical traditions and written with a "small t", and are not a "Deposit of faith" and can be changed i.e. such as using Latin or English in the liturgy, days of fasting; non Biblical prayers etc.) is restricted to only the time when the apostles lived. What the Church is – Church dogma, Church structure and authority; priesthood; sacraments – all have not changed in what they are and what they do since the death of the last apostle.

At various times, there have been changes in "the way" or "the application" of doing things, but there have never been changes in "what is done" nor can there be!

By the way, what we accept as "the Bible" today was not put together and authenticated by the Church until about the year 400 AD So, if we accept the Bible as "the Word of God," we must first accept that the Holy Spirit was active in guiding His Catholic Church in this endeavor.

Also, we must remember that there was no printing press until the fifteenth century. During this 1,500 year period, the Holy Words of the Bible were reproduced by hand, carefully guarded, and passed on by the Catholic Church! So if we respect the Bible as "God's Word," should we not have a respect for the Catholic Church "the instrument used by God" to bring to us this revelation?

If we are to accept what comes from an authority, must we not first accept the authority from which it came?

3 – THE BELIEFS CATHOLICS SHARE WITH OTHERS

We all believe that God is the Master of the universe and created all things. That there is one God in three Divine persons – the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit.

That God created man in His image and likeness, and that which is man, that is his intellect, conscience, free will and soul was created by God and did not evolve from some lower animal.

We believe that the Bible is revealed truth from God.

We believe that the Jewish faith was the one true faith of God until the time of Christ. Christ did not institute a new religion, but rather He fulfilled and sanctified the Jewish faith.

"Do not think that I have come to do away with the Law of Moses and the teachings of the prophets. I have not come to do away with them, but to make their teachings come true" (Matthew 5:17).

When man sinned, he separated himself from God; man, of himself, had no way to return to God. God gave man the way to return by becoming man Himself, in the person of Our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ.

Christ is our personal Savior, and the only way of salvation.

We can be saved through faith NOT faith "alone." With Catholics, this faith must include the "Total Christ," ALL of His teachings, His authority, and His ways and means of sanctification; and it must be acted upon and continuous.

"Not everyone who says Lord, Lord, shall enter my Kingdom, but he who does the will of My Father shall enter the kingdom of God... He who does not hear my word . . . and follow it . . . will be washed away and utterly destroyed" (Matthew 7:21, 26, 27) (St. James 2;14, 26)

Those are the basic teachings of all true Christian denominations, and they are also the teachings of the Roman Catholic Church.

Now, let us review these beliefs that all true Christians share.

We all agree that God is Master, and created all things.

We agree that the Bible is the revealed truth of God, and we know the Old Testament is true because Christ Himself proclaimed it to be true. If we believe in Christ, then we believe the Old Testament is truly God's Word. To believe in the God is to believe in the Bible! one cannot logically exist without the other.

We know the Jewish faith was the one true faith in the time of Christ. You must be a Jew (in the religious sense) before you can be a Christian.

I have an accountant who is a Jew. When I was having my taxes done a few years ago, he said, "Frank, you and Florence (my wife) should go to the Holy Land. Many things will have meaning for you there."

I said, "Vick, they would ALL have meaning for me."

"What do you mean?" he asked.

"Well," I replied, "I'm a Jew."

He said, "Frank, you're a Christian."

"I know, Vick," I answered, "I am a Christian Jew: I have to be a Jew before I can be a Christian. For instance, Vick, if you decided to become a Christian tomorrow, what would you change?"

He said, "I don't know, what?"

"Nothing. Absolutely nothing," I answered. "You would still believe in Moses and the prophets and all of those things that happened before. Christ didn't come to change, He came to fulfill (Matthew 5:17-19). All you would say is "Christ is the Messiah. He has fulfilled all that was promised'."

Original Sin

When man sinned in the Garden of Eden, he separated himself from God; we call this "original sin." Man, of himself, had no way to return to God. Perhaps the most demonic, satanic teaching is that there is no original sin. Satan would like Christians to believe that, but that is not the teaching of Christ and His Church.

If there were no original sin, then there would be no need for redemption, and hence, no need for a redeemer!

Bishop Fulton J. Sheen gave a marvelous explanation of original sin. He described how, in the book of Genesis, when God created Adam; he was created in the image and likeness of God. Adam had a perfect body. He was not subject to disease, colds or sore throats. He was not subject to death (Genesis 2:17).

But, most important, Adam could stand in the presence of God. He could talk with God as you and I talk with each other. When Adam sinned against God, he lowered himself, and the level of humanity to where it is now (Genesis 3:23).

This is the same thing that happened to Lucifer. Lucifer was an angel created by God; Lucifer was given eternal life, yet Lucifer chose to rebel against God's authority (Isaiah 14:12). Lucifer and the other rebellious angels who followed him destroyed their relationship with God by attempting to overthrow Him, so they were separated and forever banished into their own evil kingdom.

Adam experienced the same thing.

Through original sin he descended into a lower level of humanity. He became subject to disease and death.

He could no longer stand in the daily presence of a visible God.

Sin Caused the Separation

Can sin exist in the presence of God?

No.

So God said, "I created you to spend all eternity with me. But now you have lost that right."

When Adam sinned, he lost the right to have a touching relationship with God; he did not have a divine inheritance to pass on anymore, so his children are born without that heritage, therefore of themselves, have no way to come into God's kingdom. "And no one has ascended into heaven, except him who has descended from heaven: the Son of man who is in heaven" (John 3:13). So where were Moses, Abraham and the prophets who were pleasing to God up until the time of Christ? They had to be in a place of waiting. Scripture tells us that Christ died and descended into hell "in which He went and preached to those spirits that were in prison . . ." (1 Peter 3: 19-20). This makes it quite clear that there is a place between heaven and hell, and that these souls were alive and aware (not in a state of suspended animation), and that they had to accept Christ as Lord and Savior and put their sins onto His cross to be washed clean in His blood. "Lazarus, the poor man, was "borne away by the angels into the arms of Abraham" - not into heaven because heaven had not yet been opened. Even Abraham could not enter into heaven until his sins could be washed away by the blood of Christ! (Luke 16: 19-33)

Original sin is not so much something you are born "with," rather it is something you are born "without" – without this touching

relationship with God! Any time we do not have this touching relationship with God, to use another expression, we are "in sin." This is what St. Paul is saying: in as much as Adam sinned (separated himself from God), we are all born "in sin," i.e., separated from a touching relationship with God (Sanctifying Grace). Adam no longer had it; therefore, he could not pass it on to his children! (Rom 5: 12-14)

Adam lost his inheritance but God still wants man to spend all eternity with Him, so God instituted a plan so that man could regain his heritage.

God could have given it back through a bolt of lightening but He is not that kind of God. He wanted a personal relationship with us, so God became man. He came down from heaven and became one of us. He knew what it was like to have a headache; to feel depressed, to experience the pain of sharp nails penetrating His hands, to laugh and to cry.

God became man as our Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ. There is no way back to God except the way God had given us through Jesus Christ.

Think of it this way: God is on one side of a canyon (sin), and man is on the other side. What kind of a bridge will it take to go across that canyon of sin, separating man from God?

Man cannot bridge it.

Only a person who could be both God and man could bridge it! Only Christ!

Christ had to be truly God in every way that God is God.

He had to be man in every way that man is man, except in sin.

Only a combination of God and man could bridge the canyon between humanity and Deity. A debt to God could be paid only by one who is equal to God, a person who is God Himself, and yet also a man, two natures, yet one person, Jesus Christ.

There is only one bridge.

Jesus Christ is that bridge.

There is no other way to have ourselves cleansed, to have ourselves purified, to have ourselves redeemed and welcomed back into God's graces except through Jesus Christ crucified, and His Church.

The whole marvelous structure we call "the Church" exists for one purpose: to bring all that \underline{is} Christ to us and us to Christ and then unite us all together as the family of Christ. Our relationship to

each other is far more intimate than just community; we are family, brothers and sisters in Christ. Then we can say, "Abba, Father."

And that is the way we think of God, as a loving Father waiting to guide us, help us, cleanse us, purify us, and bring us into His kingdom. All He asks from us is that we accept Him, love Him, and try to follow His ways.

When Christ became man, He became the way of salvation.

Why did Christ die on that cross?

For our sins!

But what does that mean?

When you sin, usually you take something that does not belong to you.

If you have sex outside of marriage, you take something that does not belong to you. If you took a gold coin from a neighbor in a robbery, it does not belong to you.

So you owe a debt.

How long do you owe it?

Forever.

In this life and into the next life, the Lord said in Matthew 5:25:

"If you owe a debt in this life, pay it in this life, because if you don't you'll be delivered to the judge who will deliver you to the jailer and you'll be put in jail until every last penny is paid" (see section on Purgatory in this chapter for further explanation).

Every debt must be paid; justice demands it!

However, another person can pay a debt for you.

Since God is a loving Father, He provides a way for His children to have their debts paid for them.

This is what Christ did for us on the cross.

He gave Himself to pay our debt. He let them put nails into His hand; let them put a crown of sharp thorns on His head; allowed them to put a sword in His side; He let them kill Him to pay our debts.

He did this for each one of us personally!!! (Col. 2: 14-15)

Many Catholic and non-Catholics say, "Christ is my personal Savior." Christ did not come to save all the people in the world, or any specific group, He came to save each one of us Personally.

We cannot go to Christ as a group or even as a community.

We have to go to Christ personally. All of the sacraments are on a one-to-one touching relationship with Christ.

Now, where do we go to pay our debt?

If you want to pay your electric bill, you take it to the electric company. When you owe a debt to God, where do you take it?

Where was the debt paid?

Where do we take our debt?

TO THE CROSS. (See page 21 and page 25 on "Confession".

There is no other place. Your sin cannot be paid except on the cross. You cannot take your sin and throw it out into space. You have to hand it to Christ personally, on the cross. St. Paul said, "We must nail our sins to the cross." (More on the blood of Christ later.)

I no longer just pray, "God forgive my sins" anymore. But I do say four simple prayers before I go to bed each night; they take about three minutes.

I pray: "God, be patient with me, I'm a sinner like anybody else; Christ, please take the burdens of my sins and put them onto Your holy cross to be washed in Your holy blood. Lord, I ask You to remember my loved ones who have passed on; and God, whatever is best for my soul, for the souls of my family, I want to happen."

I never question what God does. My prayer puts the responsibility in His lap. "Whatever is best for our souls, God, I want it to happen." If my son is driving down from Bishop (a town in California) today, can I pray he gets here okay?

No, I cannot.

I pray for what is best for his soul. If it is best for his soul that he dies on the way, then I want him dead on the way.

Yes, I will grieve. But I put it in God's lap; "Whatever is best for our souls, God, I want it to happen."

What else can you pray for? That is all there is.

The Passover and The Cross

In the Old Testament, the Jews were enslaved by the Egyptians; that is why you hear Israel-Egyptian war talk even to this day; the Israelites were enslaved by Egypt for five hundred years.

They prayed for deliverance. Moses prayed for deliverance.

God said to Moses, "Moses, I've selected you to go tell my people I'm going to get them released."

Moses said, "But-but-but who sh-sh-shall I say that sent me Lord?"

That's right, Moses stuttered. Isn't that interesting? God selected a man to go in front of the king to represent His people, and the spokesman He selected stuttered severely!

Why would God do this?

God always uses the unlikely messenger. If Moses could move mountains with his speech, and the Jews were released, then the Jews would say, "Moses got us released."

But if Moses could not even speak a complete sentence, and the Jews get released, who got them released?

God did.

At Fatima, God did not talk to the local Bishop, or to the Pope. No, God spoke to three little children.

Now, how could they get the message? Where did it come from?

Only from God.

So Moses goes in front of the Pharaoh and says, in effect "Look, you release my people or I'll change the waters of Egypt into blood."

Pharaoh did not release them so Moses took his staff and struck the waters of the Nile and the waters turned into blood. This impressed Pharaoh.

God performed ten other great miracles (Exodus, Chapters 7 through 12).

After each miracle, He hardened the heart of Pharaoh so that He might perform other miracles to prove beyond a doubt that He was their God: the plague with flies; the plague of the locusts; the plague of the shrimp; the boils on the animals and all the people (except the Israelites); the hail that dropped from the skies and burst into flames when it touched the ground.

What was the last miracle performed to release the Jews?

In effect God said, "Tell Pharaoh, unless he releases all My people, the first-born of all Egyptians and their cattle shall die this night."

So Moses told Pharaoh.

And Pharaoh said, "Show me."

So Moses went to his people and said, "Take a lamb, it must be perfect, you kill the lamb, prepare the meat for a flight into the desert because we'll be leaving tomorrow. Take the blood of the lamb and put it on the door post so it can be seen from the outside because this night an angel shall go over all of Egypt and any house that has the blood of the lamb on the door post, the angel will pass over that house when he sees the sign of the lamb's blood."

He will pass over that house (that is why we call this event the Feast of the Passover). Any house that does not have the blood of

the lamb on its door post, the angel will kill the first born in that house. It happened as God foretold. (Exodus Chapt. 12 and 13)

So the Jews were saved by the blood of the lamb.

And we, too, were saved by the blood of the lamb, Jesus Christ. Jesus said, "I am the Lamb of God."

This is important to our soul. They were saved by their faith, but the sign had to be present (each Sacrament has a sign which must be present). What would happen to a Jew if He said, "Look, I have faith, I see no reason to paint blood on my door post." What would have happened to his first-born?

Would we be willing to risk it?

What happens to a man today who says, "I don't believe I have to have water put on my head in baptism, I have faith."

Jesus said, "Unless you are born of the water and the spirit, you shall not enter My kingdom." (St. John 3:1-13)

Are we willing to risk it?

God asks so little of us, but He demands that the signs be present so that we understand what is happening in our relationship with Him, and that we accept Him as our Creator as well as our loving Father.

And how are we saved?

The blood of the lamb of God; that is why at every Mass the priest holds up the consecrated bread and wine and says, "Behold the Lamb of God, who takes away the sins of the world." (Rev 1:5 "To Him who loved us and washed us from our sins in His blood" and Rev 5:9 "and redeemed us for God in His blood.")

The book of Revelation discusses how God will gather all of the souls on judgment day. He will say to Satan that he may have all of those who do not have the sign on their forehead.

Satan will ask what the sign is?

The Lamb, His name and the name of His Father on their foreheads (Rev 14:1) "We must have our robes washed in the blood of the Lamb, and made white" (Rev 7:14).

"Any soul who has the "our mark" on their forehead, you may not have them, they belong to Me."

Satan may not have us unless we wash it off.

How do we wash it off?

By sin ". . .and by sin we receive the mark of the beast on our forehead and upon our hand... and shall be tormented with fire and brimstone forever and ever" (Rev 14:9-11).

When we sin, we wash off the mark of the lamb. Now, if we stand in front of God on judgment day, and we do not have the sign, of the Father and Son, then we are lost.

Here is an illustration.

If I take a one-ounce gold coin down to a pawnshop, they would probably loan me about \$200.00 on it, and I would receive a redeemer slip. Anytime within the next 60 days I could pay the \$200.00 plus interest, and the broker would then give me back the gold coin. He has possession of it, but he does not yet own it. Now, if I fail to redeem the gold coin within sixty days, then he no longer just has possession, he owns it, and may do with it what he will!

The same is true within the spiritual realm.

When we are in serious sin – adultery, fornication, murder, abortion, etc., — we have delivered ourselves into the company of Satan. He has possession of our soul. He does not own it yet, but he has possession. At any time before our death, we can go to our blessed Lord through the Sacrament of Penance (confession) and say, "Lord, will you redeem my soul with your blood? Will you pay my debt?"

Through the priest He says yes. Please come to Me. Please bring that burden to Me. Please put that burden on the cross. I will take it, no questions asked. The thing He asks is that we try and sin no more and have sorrow for our sins.

In our weakness we are likely to sin again, but as long as we continue to try, we are continuing in the life of Christ; we have the mark of "the Father and the Lamb" on our forehead. The only time that we are lost is when we abandon ourselves to sin, and give up and do not try anymore. No matter how great or frequent a sinner we are, Christ is waiting to take us back if we will only try. "For God sent not His Son into the world to condemn the world; but that the world through Him might be saved (John 3:17-21)."

But if we do not accept Christ, if we do not accept His words, there is someone who will judge us. "He who believes in Him is not judged; but he who does not believe is already judged" (John 12:44-48) and has his mark, the mark of the Beast, on his forehead and hand.

When we are in serious sin, we deliver our soul unto the possession of Satan. If we die in this state, Satan will not only possess our soul, but he will own it. It is his. Christ doesn't want Satan to possess us. He loves us. He created us to spend eternity with Him.

What we must do is to place our burdens on His Holy Cross and try and sin no more.

God commanded the Jews to celebrate the Feast of the Passover every year. I asked my Jewish friend if he still celebrated the Feast of the Passover. He said that he did, every year. I told him that we celebrate it everyday; that every Mass is the celebration of and representation of the Feast of the Passover, as fulfilled by Jesus Christ at the Last Supper and continued in His Crucifixion and Resurrection.

The sign of "the Father and the Son on our forehead" (Rev. 14:1) would imply to me that we not only must accept Christ and His doctrine in our mind, but it must be applied in our action. Likewise, the sign of the "mark of the beast" implies we have accepted the doctrine of Satan, and the world (experience), in our mind and so act with our hands (Rev. 14: 9-10) (after reading this in scripture, when I bless myself going in, or out of church with "Holy Water" I always also rub some of the Holy Water on the palms of my hands.)

NOTE: Any substance (such as water), object (such as a religious medal or cross) or words (such as *The Lord's Prayer*) etc., that are dedicated and consecrated by a priest to be used solely in the service of, or to "the Honor and Glory of God," we call "Sacramental" and are not to be sold or used for any other purposes. (When their use is concluded, they are to be disposed of in a proper manner, such as being buried or burned.)

When we enter or leave our church, we dip our finger in water so blessed, and make the "sign of the cross" over our bodies to remind ourselves that Christ "on the cross" is our only way of salvation, and the water reminds us to renew our baptismal vows of penance and commitment to Christ and our faith.

4 – SACRAMENTS

Catholics believe that sacraments are an integral part of our personal relationship with Christ. Jesus Christ instituted sacraments as "the way" to establish our relationship with God.

All of the Sacraments have signs. They must be present for a valid Sacrament. Just as blood had to be smeared on the door post for the Jews to be saved; they were saved by their faith evidenced by the sign of the blood of the lamb. This is the way God provided for their firstborn to be saved; He did not give an alternative way! Nor did Christ provide any alternate ways other than the sacraments through His apostles and the Church.

The word "sacrament" means "a sacred moment" — a sacred moment when you are touched by the person of Christ. Christ wants to have a touching relationship with you. He does not want to be a God "way out there someplace," but a loving, personal, touching God: this happens in the "sacraments."

We know that Christ is present in our life even as this book is being read, so why a sacrament? It is similar to this.

If I call my wife before I go home from the hospital, my voice is at the home, my wife is at the home, but I am at a phone in the hospital. She does not have a touching relationship with me during the phone call.

The spirit of Christ is in the room where you are reading this book, but is it His person touching you?

No. Certainly not in the fullness of a "sacrament."

Stop and think for one moment.

Just as a "sign," the "blood of a lamb," had to be on the door post of the Jews at the first Passover (this is the way God provided), so Jesus demanded a sign be present for each sacrament so we can understand what is happening.

NOTE: Sacraments of the living are those which we may receive while living in the family of Christ; i.e., the Holy Eucharist, Confirmation, Matrimony or Holy Orders; Sacraments "of the dead" are those which bring us into the life of Christ, i.e., establish or reestablish our family relationship with Christ: Baptism, Reconciliation, and the Sacrament of the Sick.

Baptism and Confirmation (Matt. 28:16-20, Acts 8:15-19) (Heb. 6:24) (Acts 1:8) (Acts Chapt 2)

Either as a baby or an adult, through Baptism we are adopted

into the family of Christ and given all the privileges and blessings of being in the family of God. Confirmation "confirms" our relationship with Christ. The Holy Eucharist establishes a blood relationship with Christ and continually nourishes this relationship. Penance reestablishes this relationship if we have separated ourselves through sin. Matrimony unites man and woman to a life-long relationship to each other and consecrates this relationship with the family of Christ. Holy Orders consecrates a man's life totally to the service and extension of the Priesthood of Christ to the world. The Sacrament of the Sick consecrates our suffering and death to the Lord and prepares us further to meet Him face to face.

"You must be born of water and the spirit" John 3:5. The sign with the spirit then effects what is symbolized. In Baptism, the washing away of our sin, and a new life in Christ is effected (i.e., occurs in reality when the water washes our body, and if we have the intent to be Baptized; or if that intent is implied by the parent or the baptizer in the case of a child or an unconscious person being baptized.)

Christ gave us the sacraments as the way to come to Him in a touching relationship. (Please read St. John 3: 1-21)

First, in Baptism, Christ literally "adopts us into His family: He promises to feed us, to heal us, to love us, to give us His name, and offers us an inheritance into all that He is and has! (John 3:5) (It is our initiation into community, yes, but for more than that!)

We even take on His last name, Christian! We can call Him "Abba" or "Father"! We are not just "community" but FAMILY! We are sons and daughters of a living, loving, touching God; nourished and nurtured through His Church, the Body of Christ.

When I was baptized, my name became Frank Dailey Christian. And on judgement day, I can demand my inheritance in His Kingdom, because He promised it, if I have not sold it! By sin.

(NOTE: Early Christians frequently added a "C." after their name on a tombstone to indicate that they were baptized into the family of Christ – like this: Franklin Dailey, M.D. (C.)

St. Paul tells us in Ephesians 5:5:

"For know this and understand that no fornicator or unclean person, or covetous one, has any inheritance in the Kingdom of Christ and God. Let no one lead you astray with empty words."

What St. Paul is saying is that when we commit serious sin, we lose our inheritance, i.e., we take ourselves "out of the family."

If we are out of the family, then we lose all of the privileges of being "in the family," i.e., we can no long call ourselves Christian, we lose our inheritance, we can no longer eat at His family table, which means that we may not receive The Holy Eucharist, or any other "sacrament of the living," until we are again "reconciled" back into the family in THE WAY that Christ has provided – through the Sacrament of Reconciliation (confession)! The word reconciliation came from the Greek: "con" means "with"; "cilia" is that part of your eye-ball that has color; so what the word implies is that we can again look at this person, in this case, God Himself, eyeball to eyeball!

Reconciliation (Confession)

So, if we fall away by serious sin, Christ gave to His apostles the way He wants us to come back to Him again in another touching relationship through His priest in the Sacrament of Reconciliation. On His day of Resurrection (Christ did not wait even one day) He met with His ten apostles (Judas had hanged himself, and they could not find Thomas), He walked through closed doors, and said to them:

"Peace be to you. As the Father has sent Me, I now send you." When He had said this, He breathed upon them and said to them, "Receive the Holy Spirit, whose sins you forgive, they are forgiven them, whose sins you retain, they are retained." (John 20:19-23).

First, in walking through closed doors Christ showed His divinity, then by showing them His hands and His side, Christ established His humanity and the fact that this was not some "emotional experience," as Satan would have people believe but the actual flesh and blood of the risen Christ.

"He breathed upon them," passing His essence of life into them, and ordained them to act in "His Person" when He said, "as the Father sent me, I now send you." He breathed into them the power and authority to teach and do everything that He did including the forgiveness of sins.

All that is in Christ is brought to us by the action of the Holy Spirit (John 14:26; John 16:5-16), so the Holy Spirit acts through them in bringing to us all that is Christ, including the crucified Christ, so that we may personally hand our sins to Christ on the cross, "to be washed in His blood," through that appointed representative of Christ, the priest, in the confessional!

When I go to Confession, I confess my sins; what I am really doing is taking them off, just as when I get home and take off my dirty shirt and hand it to my wife. Because of her love for me she takes my shirt, washes out the dirt, gets it clean again, and returns it to me.

In Confession, I'm taking off my sins and I am handing them to whom?

Some man in the Confession box?

No!

I am handing them to Christ on the cross who loves me.

When we go to Confession, we are saying, Christ, please take this burden from me. Please wash it in your holy blood which you shed for the love you have for me (Rev 7:13-15).

He says yes, I will do this, but I ask that you to have sorrow for your sins, and that you try to sin no more.

Then you walk out of Confession cleansed; Christ has taken your burden. You gave it to Him in the way that He asked you to do it through the action of the priest, whom He has ordained to act in His Person. (Persona Christie Cipitis: Art 1948 CCC)

The Priesthood (Holy Orders)

Each Priest in the Roman Catholic Church is ordained by a bishop, who was ordained by another bishop, back to one of the twelve apostles. The priesthood has come to us from Christ by apostolic succession, by the apostles handing it on to others (Acts 1:15-26).

In the Old Testament, God appointed the house of Aaron to be his priest. For almost 2,000 years it was passed on from one generation to another. But the Jews do not have a priesthood anymore. They do not have a priest.

In the year 70 AD, the Romans invaded Jerusalem and killed all the Jewish priests. There was no one to pass on the priesthood. There is no priesthood in the Jewish religion anymore. Only rabbis (teachers).

The priesthood in the Church has to be passed on from one to another back to one of the twelve apostles; the priesthood cannot just start up somewhere, and it is not of the people or from the people, but only by and from Christ (Galatians 1:1), by the action of the Holy Spirit, through the apostleship of Christ.

The early church understood that only those in the apostleship of Christ (the bishops) had the power and authority to pass-on

(ordain) others into the priesthood of Christ when they chose Matthias to take the place of Judas (Acts 1:28). Every priest in the Catholic Church can trace his priesthood from a bishop back to another bishop all the way back to one of the twelve apostles (apostolic succession).

St. Paul identifies his priesthood as an "ambassador of Christ Christ coming to us through them" (2 Corinthians 5:18-20). (An ambassador is far more than a representative of an authority; rather, he is "an extension" of that authority and can act in the person of that authority.)

St. Paul makes it quite clear that there is only ONE PRIEST, and that is Jesus Christ. Christ then poured His one priesthood out onto His apostles, so that they become an "extension" of that one priesthood; not another priest!

Christ, working through them.

Christ wanted to be a very personal God with a personal touching relationship, and He did this by extending Himself through those He appointed and ordained at the Last Supper, and His day of Resurrection.

John 15:16 clearly shows that Christ appointed His apostles.

"You did not choose me; I chose you and appointed you to go and bear much fruit, the kind of fruit that endures. And so the Father will give you whatever you ask of Him in My name."

And in John 17:18, and John 20:21, "As the Father has sent me, so I send you."

And again at the Last Supper Peter asked, Lord, are you going to leave us? And Christ replied, I have to leave you. If I do not leave you then My spirit cannot come and be with you. What He was saying is that as long as I am here, I am one man; when I go, the Holy Spirit will bring Me to you and then I am not one man, but twelve, and twelve times twelve. You will become an extension of Me, you will act in "My Person."

Christ was sent to teach, guide and sanctify us. His apostles, through His Church, were commissioned to continue as an extension of Himself to teach, guide and sanctify. Christ did not leave us orphans, and He did not leave us just a book (Bible). His total self continues to be with us in the world for all time IN HIS BODY, THE CHURCH! (Romans 12:5; 1 Corinthians 12:27; Ephesians 4:4-16, Col 1: 18-24). So to truly find Christ, we must find the Church He founded, structured and sanctified in truth (John 17:17-23) and which continues in this structure and truth – His Holy Catholic

Church. In Ephesians 4: 4, 16 St. Paul gives a definitive description of the church which is the body of Christ, that fits no other but the Roman Catholic Church and the reason for its existence, (verses 13) to attain unity of faith – knowledge of the Son of God – (verses 14), no longer tossed hereafter by winds of doctrine by wicked men, etc.

Christ did not just leave us a book of what He said and did. He left us an authority to interpret and apply His works and actions. Those that believe that He left only a book become their own authority, that is why we have over 25,000 various denominations today. Then would we not have as many "churches" as there are people?

Holy Eucharist

On the night before He died, after they had eaten the Passover meal, the blessed Lord took bread in His hands and said, "Take and eat, this is My Body." Then, He took a cup of wine and said, "Take and drink, this is My Blood."

As Catholics, because of what Christ said we believe that that bread literally became His living body. We believe at that moment the cup of wine became the blood of Christ. The bread and wine did not change appearance, but it became the Body and the Blood of Christ.

Why do we believe this?

Because Christ said it and the Church has believed and defended it for 2000 years..

Christ also said, "You must be baptized to be saved."

If we believe in the words of our Lord that something special happens to our soul when we are baptized, is it more difficult to believe His words when He took bread and said, "This is My Body," and the cup of wine and said, "This is My Blood"? This sameness of appearance but change of substance we call "Transubstantiation."

We must make sure that Christ really meant what He said. If He really meant what He said, then He would repeat it. We see this in St. John Chapter Six, where the passage goes on for 54 verses. Our blessed Lord had just fed 5,000 men from a few loaves of bread and fishes. Because of this miracle, the crowds want to make Him king. "So he hid himself in the mountains alone." (John 6:15) When evening came his disciples got into a boat and started toward Capharnaum without Jesus. While on the sea a storm arose and

they were frightened. "Then Jesus came walking upon the sea and quieted the storm, and immediately the boat was at the land toward which they were going" (John 6:16-21). The next day the crowd got into some boats to follow them.

Question: Why did Christ perform the great miracle of feeding five thousand people with a few loaves and fishes, and then to his apostles follow it up with another great miracle of walking on water and guieting a storm? Was it not because while Christ knew that His apostles had great faith in Him, He knew that they needed a superhuman faith in order to accept what He was about to say to them: That He was going to give them His Body to eat and His Blood to drink! Keep in mind also that to drink blood from any animal was a serious sin in the eyes of the Jews. After reading Jesus promise to give His body to eat and His blood to drink (St. John 6; 22, 70) you can see why His apostles did not question Him as to what He meant at the Last Supper when he said "This is my body, etc."

Remember, the crowd had just seen Him perform a miracle, so they said, "Give us this bread."

Christ said, "The bread I will give you is my body to eat."

Now, that did not sit too well with the people. They responded, "You don't REALLY mean your body to eat."

If Christ meant something else, He would have said, "No, you misunderstood Me. This is not truly My body, but it is just a symbol of My body." This they would have readily accepted, because they had lived with signs and symbols all of their lives.

Instead, He answers their question emphatically in nine different ways. "Unless you eat My body and drink My blood, you shall not have My life in you." (Note: If something is said only once in Scripture, it might be taken figuratively, but if it is repeated three times it is to be taken very literally: here, Christ repeats it three times three – or nine different ways.) Christ even attaches the truth of His ascension to the truth of the Holy Eucharist.

They said, "This is too much," and they left Him, "they walked with Him no more" (John 6:67).

If He had not meant exactly what He said, He would have had to call them back and say, "Wait a minute, you did not understand Me."

Instead, He let them go. The only ones left were the apostles. He said, "Why didn't you go also?"

Peter spoke up and said, "Lord, where would we go? You have the words of eternal life." What Peter is really saying is I honestly do not understand what you are talking about, Lord, but because You have said it, I believe it.

That is faith, i.e., we accept because of His words, not because we understand!

One statement that our Lord makes here in the dissertation on the Holy Eucharist might be confusing – "the flesh profits nothing except with the spirit" (John 6:63).

To understand this statement, it will help to look at what Our Lord said concerning Baptism: "Unless you are born of the water and the spirit, you shall not enter into the kingdom of heaven." Here Christ is saying that just pouring water over your head will not save you. You must have the intent of being a Christian (if you are at the age of reason). The same is true regarding eating His Body – it is of no benefit unless you acknowledge that it IS Christ's Body, and your intent and spirit is to be united to Him in mind and heart AND body in this most perfect way that He has provided.

What a great God we have Who has found a way for His own Body and Blood to come and be in us! Would you want a God who would do any less?

What does the Holy Mass do?

It provides the way for the Body and Blood of Christ to come and be in us. Through the Holy Eucharist we are children of the Body and Blood of Christ.

In the Holy Mass, the priest says, "This is my Body and this is My Blood." We who are Catholics do not understand this miraculous transformation of bread and wine into His Body and Blood anymore then Peter understood it 2,000 year ago. But because Christ said it was so, we believe it! Not only a symbol, but actually His Body and Blood. Everything in Christ becomes present, His crucifixion, His resurrection.

Do you see why we kneel at Mass?

We are in the presence of the crucifixion. Not another crucifixion. Christ died one time, two-thousand years ago. But that one time becomes present again every time a Mass is said. If Christ becomes present, the crucifixion becomes present, the resurrection becomes present, here and now (Art 1085, C.C.C), and the body and blood of Christ can actually be in us.

You have to have faith in God Himself. You have to have faith in someone who can create universes to believe such an incredible miracle takes place in the Holy Eucharist. My intelligence convinces me that there is a God; my faith causes me to accept His Word.

And I believe this because of the Word. Anyone who truly believes that the Bible is the Word of God, must believe it.

That is what faith is.

In the early Church, we see in Acts 2:42 <u>that the apostles gathered for prayer, for teachings, and for the communion of the breaking of the bread.</u>

What was just described? The Holy Mass. The word "Mass" comes from the Latin, "Missa," meaning "to send or dismiss." We come to get instruction and receive Christ, and to take Him out into the world as we live our lives. That is what the Mass was 2,000 year ago! This is what the Mass is today.

In 1 Corinthians, Chapter 11, St. Paul goes through this last supper. And then he said,

"It follows that if anyone eats the Lord's bread or drinks from His cup in a way that dishonors Him, he is guilty of sin against the Lord's body and blood" (1Corinthians 11:27).

St. Paul understood this to be the living Body and Blood of Christ, and that we must be free of serious sin when we received it! For two thousand years the Catholic Church has taught that this is the living Body and Blood of Christ (1 Corinthians 11:23,34).

The "Last Supper" and the "Feast of the Passover" continue in each Mass. Each time you attend Mass, think back 3,500 years to that first Feast of the Passover, and then think back 2,000 years ago to when our Lord was celebrating the Feast of the Passover: YOU ARE THERE; those events become present! The are "represented".

Could our great God do any less for His children? God commanded the Jews to celebrate the Feast of the Passover, and today the Jews still celebrate that feast. This is what our Lord was celebrating and fulfilling. He fulfilled the Feast of the Passover when the blood of the lamb saved the faithful Israelites. His blood, the blood of "the Lamb of God." The New Covenant is our salvation.

At The Last Supper, Christ changed bread and wine into His own Body and Blood so His apostles could have the perfect "blood relationship" with Him. He then commanded His apostles to do this again and again as an extension of Himself so we and all generations may have this perfect "blood relationship with Him." Baptism makes us adopted children of Christ; the Holy Eucharist gives to us THE WAY to have an even more close and perfect relationship in His family - a blood relationship. COULD OUR LORD AND SAVIOR DO ANY LESS FOR HIS CHILDREN? God does not want to be just "a God out there someplace," but a God who is "with and in us."

Note: The late Archbishop Fulton J. Sheen taught that the reason Christ was hailed by the people as a king on Palm Sunday, and the same people demanded that he be crucified four days later was that; the men who heard Christ declare his destiny and that "unless you eat the flesh of the Son of man (Jesus the Christ) and drink his blood you shall not have life in you", (St. John 6: 26-72): they relayed in the truth of what Jesus had said, to the high priest and the populous: In the eyes of the high-priest and Jews this was indeed "Blasphemy", deserving of death. Compounding this was the fact Jesus demanded that they drink his blood: Drinking of any blood by a Jew was a capital sin, deserving excommunication! Jesus planned it this way so that his purpose in coming, i.e. his crucifixion and the opening of heaven (St. John 3: 13-15) would be fulfilled.

Note: At the "feast of the passover of the Jews": If there be a stranger with you at this time and he accepts the phase, and has been circumcised (i.e. a practicing Jew), he may partake of the meal with you. "If not..... he may not partake of the Passion". (Exodus 12: 48)

Wherever possible, the Catholic Church follows Jewish traditions, therefore: A person who is not an active baptized Catholic may not receive the Holy Eucharist at Mass.

Recently the following profound thought was shared with me by my dear friend, Joe Bonadiman: When Jesus said to a cripple, "You are healed," he was immediately healed. When Jesus said to the blind man, "You can see," immediately he could see. At the Marriage Feast at Cana when he willed that the water, "In the six stone water-Jars" should become fine - wine, it became fine wine (St. John 2: 1-11). You can see that when Jesus say's something is, it is. So at the Last Supper when He said over the bread, "This is my body which is being given for you...." and over the cup, "This cup is the new covenant in my blood." (1Cor 11:23-25). What happened to that bread and wine? How did the early church understand it? Just as you must - it was His Body and Blood. (1Cor 10:16). "Our God is NOT a God out there someplace," but a God who is "with and in us."

And when Jesus continued; "do this in remembrance of me", (Luke 22:19) it was understood from the earliest church that His priests were commissioned and commanded to "Represent" "this Holy Event" to all generations for all time (the Mass).

Sabbath or Sunday – Day of Worship?

In Acts 20, verse 7, it tells us that they had begun to meet "on the first day for the breaking of the bread," and hereafter referred to the first day as "the Lord's Day," i.e., His day of resurrection, "the new covenant." There is confusion among some Christians who believe and teach that the emperor Constantine changed the day of worship from the Jewish Sabbath to the first day, that is Sunday the Lord's Day, in 325 AD. This is not the case. The Encyclopedia Britannica, (not a Catholic book) gives this account of Sunday, the Lord's Day "Sunday, first day of the week: in Christianity, the Lord's day, the weekly memorial of Jesus' resurrection from the dead . . . dates back to apostolic times, but details of actual development are not clear, but before the end of the first century, the author of the Book of Revelation gave the first day its name of The Lord's Day (Rev 1:10). St. Justin, martyr in the second century, described Christian worshiping on the "Lord's Day" thusly: the gospels were read, a sermon preached . . . and they celebrated the Lord's supper." i.e. The Mass of today!

A group who identifies themselves as "The Three Angels Message Ministry," have taken full page ads in the Los Angeles Times and other papers, stating that the Catholic Church made the change from Saturday to Sunday as the day of worship and any church that worships on Sunday, carries the "Mark of the Beast" and is the Church of Satan. They state that there is no Biblical basis to change to Sunday. May I reply - yes, all of the languages they list do have a word for "the Sabbath," and they all call the first day Sunday, which early Christians have given the name "the Lord's Day" (Book of Revelations(Apocalypse) Chapter 1:10). St. John tells us he received the revelation for this book "when I was in the Spirit on the Lord's Day," and yes Paul and Barnabas and the other apostles did go into the synagogues on the Sabbath, but for what reason? TO TEACH. In none of the Biblical quotes they use did it say they went in in order to participate in any Sabbath ritual. If they wanted to preach to the Jews, they had to go at a time when they, the Jews, were there. Most of the time they were expelled from the synagogues and even stoned! But when the Christians met "for the breaking of the bread," it was "the first day of the week." (Acts 20:7)

But to answer their question about worshiping on the first day, contrary to their statement that "there is no scriptural evidence of worshiping on the first day," there clearly is: Acts 20:7 "and on the first day of the week, when we had met for the breaking of the

bread, Paul addressed them, etc. Historically the early church did meet on "the first day of the week in celebration of Christ's resurrection on the first day." The Jews traditionally celebrated special events such as the Passover, etc., at very specific times. This, being a special event equaled only by the birth of Christ, deserved to be celebrated at least weekly on the anniversary day, the "first day." Christ also appeared on "that very day" at Emmaus and they recognized him "in the breaking of the bread" (Luke 24:13, 35). Later that same day, the first day of the week, Jesus met with 10 of His apostles and completed their appointment "to act in His person", "as the Father sent me, I also send you," even to the extent that He gave to them the power to forgive or retain sins (John 20:23). The next time He met with His apostles it was again on the first day, one week later (John 20:26). Christ instructed His apostles to wait in Jerusalem until the Feast of Pentecost which occurs on the 50th day after the Feast of the Passover, which is "the first day of the week." They did as Christ commanded and on that "first day of the week," the Holy Spirit descended upon them, and on the same day they went out and preached the gospel and baptized 3000 (Acts 2:1-41). So the first sermon preached was on "the first day" and the first 3000 converts were baptized on the first day of the week. Do we need further confirmation that the "first day" is indeed "the Lord's day" and so it has been since that time? Does not out Lord's resurrection on the "first day" and the descending of the Holy Spirit upon the church on the "first day" sanctify "the first day" even above the old Jewish Sabbath? The early church saw it that way, and from then on called it "the Lord's Day". Book of Revelation 1:10. Acts 2:42 continues, "and they continued steadfastly in the teaching of the apostles and in the communion of the breaking of the bread, and in prayers," which pretty well summarizes our Sunday worship which we call the Mass (from the Greek "to take out") which the Catholic Church has been faithfully doing for these two thousand years, which Christ commanded us to do at the Last Supper "in commemoration of me" (a more detailed description of what the Mass is can be found in 1Cor. 11:22, 34).

So no one even questioned that the first day was the Lord's Day of worship until the mid 1800s. Even the great minds and liturgists of the reformation in the 1500s and afterward accepted Sunday as the "Lord's Day."

That the early church worshiped and baptized on the "first day" is historical and biblical fact. Even Acts 20:7 did not make the state-

ment as a directive, but simply as a statement that this is what they were doing and when they did it. No Pope made this change, but it was simply affirmed by the church, that this was the day of worship.

The only council of which I am aware, that had anything to do with Sunday as the day of worship, is the Council of Nicea in 329 AD. Their concern was not with Sunday being the day of worship but rather which Sunday should be designated as "Easter Sunday," because this being a movable feast, there was confusion. The Catholic Church (the only Christian Church at that time) agreed that the Christian Passover, should be celebrated on Sunday following the first full moon after the vernal equinox" (C.C.C. Art 1170) and so it has been since that time.

So, did the Holy Spirit allow the entire Christian world for eighteen hundred years to be in err by worshiping on the first day of the week; then inspire one person to correct their err using the Jewish covenant and ignoring the words of Christ at the Last Supper, "this is My blood of the new covenant" (Matt 26: 26-27: Mark 14: 22-25: Luke 22: 19-20) this one person "a mere human" inspired by the Holy Spirit, or "by deceitful workers, disguising themselves as apostles of Christ, And no wonder, for Satan himself disguises himself as an angel of light... and his ministers are ministers of justice". (2 Cor: 13-15)

The emperor Constantine, a convert to Christianity, introduced the first *civil legislation* concerning Sunday in 321." (Note: those who say that Constantine made the change from Saturday to Sunday: I would like to know their source of information).

But was it "The Catholic Church" that made the change from Saturday to Sunday? In a sense, yes, it did, if you accept St. Paul's definition of what the Church is: The Body of Christ (Roman 12:5).

For just as the body we have many members . . . so we, the many, are one body in Christ etc., and 1 Cor. 12:27. "Now you are the Body of Christ, member for member. And God placed some in the Church, first apostles, secondly prophets, etc." Perhaps the most clear description of the body of Christ is in Eph. 4:10-16: "Apostles, prophets . . . evangelist, pastor, teacher etc. for building up the body of Christ, until we all attain the unity of faith and of the deep knowledge of the Son of God . . . that we may no longer be tossed to and fro and carried about by every wind of doctrine devised in the wickedness of men, in craftiness, according to the wiles of error. Rather, we are to protect the truth in love, and so in all things in Him who is the head, Christ . . . knit together . . . in due measure of each

single part . . . to increase to building up of itself in love."

So it is the Church, the Body of Christ where we can defend "unity of faith" and stability and all that is Christ. It has been the teaching of the Catholic Church when the entire church acts in unison from the lay person through the priest and bishop and the successor of Peter, then that action or belief is truly coming from Christ, by the action of the Holy Spirit. (By a "supernatural sense of faith, the People of God, under the guidance of the Church's living Magisterium," unfailingly adheres to the faith. C.C.C. Art 889). It is important to emphasize that there must be a unity, not by majority vote, and not be a select group, and must have final approval by "the Magisterium", and the Holy Father (the Pope).

Matrimony

When a man and woman make a promise to each other to share their lives until death, and to exclude all others in their relationship, we call this agreement "marriage."

When they bring this agreement to be celebrated and sanctified by Christ, then this agreement becomes the Covenant of Matrimony. Once this covenant has been touched by the Person of Christ, it becomes unbreakable by man. Only death of either party or an annulment frees the other to make another such agreement with another person.

There is no divorce of a validly married husband and wife. Such is the dogmatic proclamation by Jesus Christ and accepted by the Church from the time of St. Paul to the present day. This is God's law as given to us by our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ (Mark 10:2-12; Luke 16:18; 1 Corinthians 7:10-11). Any Church claiming Christ's teaching must demand observance of that law of any person who claims to be a member of that Church. If divorce and remarriage are acceptable, then marriage truly becomes just "a piece of paper" as the humanists of the world would have you believe.

Annulments

An annulment means an acknowledgement that there was no valid marriage. Failure of either party to declare important information regarding a previous marriage, impotence, no true intent of getting married (such as for political or social reasons only), may in fact be cause for an annulment.

If a person is forced into the marriage, is too young or under the influence of drugs which prevent him or her from making a knowledgeable, rational and free-will decision, this may also be a cause for annulment. But, if a valid marriage exists, there is no divorce and remarriage for a Christian, nor can a Christian marry a person who has been divorced (Matthew 5:31-32; 19:3-9; Mark 10:2-12; Luke 16:18; 1 Corinthians 7, 10, 11, 13). Many of the "just causes" in the granting of "civil law" annulments parallel the "just causes" in the granting of "Church law" annulments.

Sacrament Of The Sick (Extreme Unction)

St. James, Chapter 15, verses 14-16:

"Is any among you sick? Let him bring in the presbyters (priests) of the Church, and let them pray over him, anointing him with oil (the sign) in the name of the Lord . . .and if he be in sin, they shall be forgiven him. Confess therefore your sins to one another."

Therefore, if we be "in sin", i.e. out of the family of Christ, it is another "way" provided by Christ to again be touched by Him and reconciled back into His loving family as shown in the *Catechism of the Catholic Church*.

"From ancient times in the liturgical traditions of both East and West, we have testimonies to the practice of anointing of the sick with blessed oil. Over the centuries the Anointing of the Sick was conferred more and more exclusively on those at the point of death. Because of this it received the name "Extreme Unction." Notwithstanding this evolution the liturgy has never failed to beg the Lord that the sick person may recover his health if it would be conducive to his salvation. (CCC #1512)

"The special grace of the sacrament of the Anointing of the Sick has as its effects:

- the uniting of the sick person to the passion of Christ, for his own good and that of the whole Church;
- the strengthening, peace, and courage to endure in a Christian manner the sufferings of illness or old age;
- the forgiveness of sins, if the sick person was not able to obtain it through the sacrament of Penance;
- the restoration of health, if it is conducive to the salvation of his soul;
- the preparation for passing over to eternal life." (CCC #1532)
- the church today permits the reception of this sacrament in any serious illness.
 - ". . . and they cast out many devils, and anointed many sick

5 – THE AUTHORITY OF PETER AND THE AUTHORITY OF THE POPE

Any organization must have someone in final authority or it will fall apart.

It is true in our country.

If we did not have or accept the authority of the President, the country would very soon fall apart. We see revolution after revolution in other countries because they do not accept the final authority of their leader.

The Church needs the same final authority.

Christ knew He must have final authority or else there would be no authority. Many question whether Christ appointed an authority to be an extension of His own authority on this earth. If He did, then we must look to that authority for the interpretation of His Word, the bible, and tradition.

In this chapter on our Pilgrim's journey, let us look at St. Matthew, Chapter 16, verse 13. Jesus comes into the district of Caesarea Philippi, and He asked His disciples "who do men say the Son of man is?"

Some said John the Baptist, others Elias, others Jeremiah. Jesus listened to these answers, and then asked, "Who do you say I am?"

Imagine, they walked and talked and lived with Jesus for three years, and they still did not know from their experience who He was ("experience" is NOT a substitute or teacher of doctrine. In fact, this ambiguous word today is often being used as an instrument by Satan to cause confusion and dissension to legitimate doctrine and authority.).

Then Peter replied, "Thou art the Christ, the Son of the Living God."

Jesus answered and said,

"Blessed art thou, Simon Bar-jona (which means the son of John). For flesh and blood hath not revealed it unto thee (no "experience" thing), but my Father in Heaven. And I say to thee, that thou art Peter, and upon this rock I will build my Church; and the gates of hell shall not prevail against it. And I will give unto thee the keys of the Kingdom of Heaven; and whatsoever thou shalt bind on

earth shall be bound in Heaven and whatsoever thou shalt loose on Earth shall be loosed in Heaven" (Matthew 16:17-19).

Then He charged His disciples to tell no one that He was Christ, the Son of the Living God.

Let us look at this passage very carefully – it is one of the very important quotations that separate Catholics from non-Catholics. Any person, layman, priest or theologian who does not accept this passage literally is NOT a Catholic!

If we acknowledge the authority of Christ, then this is His authority that He appointed for us to turn to for understanding of what God wants us to believe in, in matters of faith and morals (faith is what we believe; morals are the guidelines of our conduct).

A non-Catholic will say that when Jesus said, "Upon you I will build my Church," that He was talking about a rock that meant faith, not Peter as the rock. Now this would be a good argument except for one thing: What was Peter's name when Christ first met him? Simon, which means, "a reed that bends whichever way the wind may blow."

And what did Jesus do with his name? (John 1; 24)

He changed it to Peter, which means "rock," a material for a sound foundation, not something that bends with the wind.

God changed the names of His chosen vessels many times.

In the Old Testament, when God first appeared to Abraham, his name was Abram. Abram means "Our father." Then God told Abram that he was pleased with him and would make him the father of "My Nation." Then He changed his name to Abraham, which means "The father of many multitudes."

God changed Abram's name to identify his position, the father of the Jewish race.

Who do the Jews say their father is?

Abraham.

Abraham had Isaac, and Isaac had Jacob.

Jacob was so pleasing to God that God made him the seed of "My Nation." God told him that his twelve sons would become God's twelve tribes. God then changed his name to Israel, which means "seed." (Gen. 17,5: 35,10)

What do we call Israel's descendants today? Israelites – the seed of Israel.

God changes Jacob's name to identify his position.

God changes a name many times in the Bible, and each time He does this, there is a purpose.

So now, Christ comes to Simon and tells him that his name is changed from Simon to rock. Every time the name "rock" is used in the Old Testament, it denotes the presence of God.

When the Jews needed water in the desert, God spoke to Moses, He told him to gather the people together, and it's time for another miracle. And after you have gathered the people together, tell them I've heard their prayers, and when you strike this rock, I shall give you water.

So Moses gathered the people and said that God has heard our prayers, and when I strike the rock we shall have water.

Moses struck the rock and water came out. Not just a stream or a trickle. It had to be a river because they needed water to satiate the thirsts of 100,000 men and their animals.

That river is still there!

Later, when the Jews again needed water, God spoke to Moses. God told him that He had heard his prayer for water. Stand in front of the people, it's time for another miracle. This time instead of striking the rock, God wanted him to speak to the rock.

The rock represented Christ.

And Christ could be struck only once.

So Moses stood in front of the people and said that God has heard our prayers and then something happened to him that happens to "dissidents" so often. They say that I think I know better than God does. So Moses decided that it would be more dramatic to strike the rock instead of just speaking to the rock.

And so Moses said, "When I strike the rock we shall have water." He struck the rock.

Did he get water?

Yes, he did. He had to. Moses was in authority. And if Moses stood up in front of all the people and said, "When I strike the rock we shall have water," and he struck the rock and there was no water, he would have been stoned to death. So God backed up this authority, even though Moses sinned in the way he used it.

Then God told Moses that for this act of disobedience, you shall not be allowed to enter into the Promised Land. <u>The profound lesson here is that God will "back up" proper authority, even though the man may sin in the way that he does it.</u>

Now, let's go back to Simon.

Christ came to Simon and said, "I am the rock . . . I am the corner-stone."

Then, He turned to Peter and said, "You are the rock."

What is He doing?

He is appointing Peter to "act in His Person" as head of His Church on earth.

We find that after His resurrection, in John 21:15, Christ was with His apostles again. And He asked, "Peter, do you love Me."

Peter replied, "Christ, you know I love You."

He said, "Feed My lambs."

He asked again, "Peter, do you love Me?"

Peter said, "Lord, you know I love You."

He said, "Feed My lambs."

Then, a third time, He asked, "Peter, do you love Me?"

Christ said, "Feed My sheep."

In this one Scripture, Christ said to Peter to "feed My lambs," meaning baby lambs, "feed My lambs," meaning the older lambs, and "feed My sheep," the oldest of the sheep.

At that moment, what authority was given to Peter?

Christ made him the shepherd of His flock, in charge of the laymen, the priests and the bishops!

Who does Christ say that He is?

The Good Shepherd, and there shall be "one fold and one shepherd" (John 10:17).

He is transferring this title and this commission to Peter!

And then He said, "Peter, whatsoever you bind on earth, I will bind in Heaven. Whatsoever you loose on Earth, I will loose in Heaven."

Christ is saying that the decisions you make here on earth, Peter, I will verify in heaven. If you bind a decision there, I will bind it here. If you loose them, I will loose them.

Who is speaking?

Jesus Christ is speaking.

To whom is He speaking?

The one man, Peter.

So Christ established His Church on the authority of Peter.

Remember, He gave to Peter the keys to the Kingdom of Heaven.

You have the keys to your house, even if the bank owns it. You have the keys. If someone wants to enter your locked house, they have to come to you and do what you deem is necessary to get into the house. You will tell them what is necessary, what the conditions are.

When you go to a movie theater, the man who has the keys tells you what is necessary to get in, i.e. that it will cost you five or six dollars. He does not own the building or the movie, but he has the keys so he has the authority to do this.

Peter has the keys to the Kingdom of Heaven.

And so, if Peter has the keys, he has the God-given authority to say what is necessary to get into the Kingdom of God.

He has the keys.

So this authority tells us what we must believe, matters of faith, and what we must do, what must be our conduct with each other and with our bodies, matters of morals.

The authority of Peter tells us what is necessary to get into the Kingdom of Heaven. He does not own heaven, but he does have the keys.

Christ said, "Whatever thou shalt bound on earth shall be bound in Heaven, whatever shall be loosed on earth, shall be loosed in Heaven."

Christ said that the decisions you make here are the decisions I will ratify in Heaven.

God has assured us that when this earthly authority speaks; it is Christ speaking through this authority. By the promise of Christ he will not let us go astray.

There are many examples in the early days of the Church where Peter exercises his authority.

First of all, as we go through the scriptures, notice that almost every time it mentions "the apostles" it reads "Peter and the apostles." There can be no doubt whatsoever that Peter was the one in authority.

Let us take a look at one of the first places where this authority was exercised.

This is in Acts, Chapter 15. There was a discussion in the Church as to whether or not they should continue to circumcise. The dissension on this matter was ready to split the Church wide open. Half of the believers said, "Yes, we must continue because circumcision was commanded by Moses." Circumcision was as important to the Jews as Baptism is to us. The other half of the believers said "No"; a decision had to be made on this matter so they brought it to Peter.

The apostles and the presbyters held a meeting to look into the matter. After a long debate, Peter got up and said to them,

"Brethren you know that in the early days, God made choice among us so that through my mouth the Gentiles shall hear the word of the gospel and believe. And God who knows the heart bore witness by giving them the Holy Spirit just as he did to us and they made no distinction between us and them, but cleansed their heart by faith. Why then, do you now try to test God by putting on the neck of the disciples, the yolk that neither our fathers nor we have been able to bear but we are saved through the grace of our Lord Jesus just as they were" (Acts 15:7-11).

Peter gathered them together and listened to the discussion. And, after the discussion, he stood up and he said, I remind you Christ appointed me. By my mouth shall come the word that they may believe and I therefore say we no longer have to circumcise.

Once he made this proclamation, the meeting quieted down. We see later in Acts, Chapter 15, verse 28, St. James writes of this decision to all of the Churches.

"For the Holy Spirit and we have decided to lay no further burden upon you but this indispensable one to abstain from things sacrificed to idols, blood and what is strangled and from immorality."

St. James is saying the "Holy Spirit and we have made this decision." He understood that the Holy Spirit was working through them for this decision.

At the end of the chapter, St. Paul writes, "I command them to keep the precepts of the apostles and the presbyters in Jerusalem."

As we go on into Acts, Chapter Sixteen, verse 4, St. Paul says,

"As they passed through the cities they delivered to the brethren for their observance the decision arrived at by the apostles and the presbyters in Jerusalem."

St. Paul had a question about circumcision, and he acted as any proper theologian should when he has a question — he brought it to the men in authority. Once the decision was made by St. Peter, then the Catholic theologian does as St. Paul did. He accepts it in faith as coming from Christ by the action of the Holy Spirit, and now explains the decision made by the men in authority, in light of scripture and tradition.

And from then on in the Bible, you see St. Paul explaining this decision and condemning anyone whom does not accept it.

As we go into Galatians, Chapters One and Two, St. Paul first identifies his position in the Church in verse one:

"Paul, an apostle sent not from men nor by man but by Jesus Christ and God the Father." (i.e., the power of the priesthood does not come from "community" but by and from Jesus Christ and the Father!)

Then, he goes on to say, as we go into verse six,

"I marvel then that you are so quickly deserting him who called you to the grace of Christ changing to another gospel, which is not another gospel except in this respect, except there are some that trouble you and wish you to pervert the gospel of Christ."

If you get upset about the heresies in the Church today (a heresy is a false teaching), do not be too upset because it happened in St. Paul's time. Many heresies came up, and they had to put them down. (1 Cor. 1:10-16: 1 Cor. 2:11-16)

St. Paul goes on to say,

"Even if an angel from Heaven should preach a Gospel to you other than that what we (the Church) have preached to you, let him be anathema." (If St. Paul were alive today in the Church, he might add after the word "angel" or "dissident theologian.")

That's about the strongest word he could use without truly swearing; it means, "let him be a Satan."

And again, he repeats himself.

"Anyone preaching gospel to you other than that which you have received, let him be anathema. They are seeking the favor of men not of God."

Now, an interesting thing develops as we go further in this passage.

St. Paul says, "I did not receive the teaching of Christ from any man, but I received it by the revelation of Jesus Christ."

St. Paul was not taught by any man. All of his knowledge of Christ was by Divine Revelation. But then St. Paul goes on and tells us in the next chapter,

"I went up in consequence of a revelation and conferred with them on the Gospel which I preach among the gentiles, but separately with the men of authority, thus perhaps I should be running or run in vain."

St. Paul says I went to the men of authority to verify that my teaching was proper. (James, John, Peter; <u>The Pillars</u>)(Gal 2: 19)

St. Paul had his knowledge by Divine Revelation and yet he still went to the men of authority to verify that his teaching was proper.

And, in verse six of Chapter Two, he says,

"But from the men of authority what they once were matters not to me, God accepts not the person or the man, the men of authority lay no further burden upon me."

Paul was talking about circumcision in this particular instance. Paul says that the men in authority said we no longer have to circumcise.

Now, we know that Paul and Peter did not get along very well. Paul was a highly educated man, and Peter was a fisherman. Yet highly educated Paul must now take orders from the fisherman. That must have galled him a little bit, so he mentions here "it matters not to me what they once were, God accepts not the person or the man."

St. Paul is saying that it doesn't matter that Peter is just an old fisherman, he was the one appointed by God and I accept his authority.

Now, when you show or read this passage to a non-Catholic, he or she will probably refer you to verse eleven in this same chapter, so let us take a look at it.

"But when Peter came to Antioch, I withstood him to his face, because he was deserving of blame. For before that certain persons came from James, he used to eat with the Gentiles, but when they came he began to withdraw and separate himself from the circumcised. And the rest of the Jews disassembled along with them so that Barnabas also was led away with them into this dissimulation."

What needs to be clarified here is precisely what St. Paul is standing up to St. Peter about. Peter had begun to separate himself from the Gentiles, so Paul said that he stood up to him and told him this was not proper. This is not the Christian thing to do. You're not supposed to separate yourself.

This issue had nothing to do with challenging the authority of Peter on faith and morals. It is Paul correcting the personal conduct of Peter, which we can do with the Pope himself. It was about personal conduct.

So, in no way does this passage lessen Paul's acceptance of Peter's authority on "faith and morals".

Now, all non-Catholic Christians have a little problem here (especially those who are adamant about Old Testament food and the Sabbath): circumcision was demanded in the Old Law. It was their baptism so to speak, and Christ was circumcised. Christ did not say that we do not have to be circumcised. Either we must continue to circumcise according to the Law of Moses, or we must accept that Peter had the authority to "loose" the Christian of that

obligation. There is no third choice if we really are going to adhere to the new covenant. Once Peter "stood up" and made that decision, the discussion was over!

As we go through the history of the Church, every time a serious decision has to be made, it is made in the same way as it was made in Jerusalem. The successors of the apostles, those who have received their authority from those before them, the bishops, gather together. They have a great deal of discussion. After the discussion, the Pope, who now succeeds Peter, stands up and says, 'I remind you that Christ chose me. I am acting in the continuation of Peter that through my mouth shall come the word to the Gentiles that they may believe.'

Then he may make a proclamation of faith and morals the same as Peter did.

This has already happened a number of times throughout the history of the Church.

In the fourth century, there arose the heresy of Arianism where they were denying that Christ was truly God. They said, "Well, He is sort of a God, but He is not equal to God the Father and God the Holy Spirit. He is sort of a second-rate God."

That was the heresy of Arianism. It has been reborn again in our present day in at least one sect, the Jehovah Witness sees God as only one person. They deny the Divine Nature of Christ.

And so, in 325 AD the Church called a council at Nicaea. At this council Pope Sylvester I proclaimed that he had listened to all the discussions, and he then proclaimed that Christ is God, equal to God the Father and God the Holy Spirit in all things, therefore, three person, not one; yet exist as One God.

From that council, and in the next two councils that followed, came the profession of faith that Catholics profess together at every Mass. That profession of faith, called the Nicene Creed, has been our Proclamation of Faith to the present day. This precedent goes back to Peter, of clarifying a truth.

Whenever there was a question about faith or morals, Peter made the decision. When all of the bishops (i.e. senior bishops we now call Cardinals) (i.e. when so gathered, with the Popes approval and never without him; this is the Magisterium) together with Peter (or his successor, the Pope), make a decision, it is said to be "infallible." They cannot err on matters of faith and morals, not because of themselves, but because of the promise of Christ that the Holy Spirit would enlighten them, and bring to them all that is Christ (John

14:26; John 16:5-16).

Christ said, "What you bind on earth I will bind in heaven, what you loose on earth I will loose in heaven." This has been the consistent teaching of the Church for two thousand years, and we have faith that God will protect this authority, and He has protected it! For over 2,000 years this authority has never changed any doctrine of the Church, or any words of the Bible.

And it never will.

We have had Popes who have been bad Popes, who have been sinful Popes. But never in those 2,000 years has God ever allowed His doctrine to be changed. He has protected His teaching through the Church. He has been true to His word.

If anyone can show me a doctrine that has been changed in these 2,000 years, I would question whether the Catholic Church is the true faith. There are only changes of certain understandings, and, at times, there are changes in the applications.

If you see a man one block away, you can clearly determine that it is a human being (in my day, you could even tell if it was a man or a woman). As you get closer to this person, you can begin to see details - the color of their hair, their eyes, the contours of their face.

The same process is true in what we call the development of doctrine or the understanding of doctrine. There can be no doctrinal changes, but there can be development through time as we have a more complete understanding of the issues.

There has been no new doctrine in the Catholic Church since the Apostolic Age, nor will there ever be!

None can be changed, none can be added, none can be taken away. Putting it very simply, "the Pope and the Church are NOT above the Bible or the Apostolic Tradition, which we call 'the Deposit of Faith.' But, rather, they are both servants to it! The purpose of Church authority is to explain and apply what is there". (Art 86 C.C.C.) But, there are certain kinds of developments that might alter an application. Let me give you a very simple example.

In the old days, before they had monetary exchanges, it was not unusual for a man to loan you money and charge you a 100% interest for one month or for a year. This is called "usury." The Church said that this was not fair and 'since there is no way we can control the interest you charge, you cannot loan money and charge interest.'

You could not loan money and charge interest because of these abuses.

But, as time went on, and society began to get control of this problem by passing laws, and the interest rates became more reasonable and controllable, the Church said, 'Okay, the abuse now is gone, therefore you can loan money and charge interest if it is a reasonable interest.'

The law had not changed. The application of the law had changed. The law is, 'You may not use your own money to abuse someone else.'

That is the law.

The application can and does change, but the law itself can never change.

What is the Official Post Vatican II Teaching in the Church in regards to the Pope?

It is strongly urged that all Catholics to get a copy of the Catechism of the Catholic Church (CCC) to use in identifying what IS Catholic teaching and in correcting heretical teachings in their own parish or diocese. Copies may be obtained from any Catholic bookstore or by ordering from: United States Catholic Conference, 1312 Massachusetts Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. 20005.

St. John reminds us.

"Anyone who comes to you and does not abide in the doctrine of Christ (i.e. His Church) has not God . . . do not receive him . . . whoever says to him welcome, shares in the evil that he does." (2 John 8-11)

Every Catholic has an obligation to learn what IS church teaching, and to defend it, even if the erroneous teaching were by a priest or a bishop. The CCC gives you a powerful tool to do this. Do expect to be put down and embarrassed by those who have expertise, and do expect to be called Pre-Vatican II." But, the CCC was composed Post Vatican II.

This Council of Vatican II, as in all of the other twenty-one councils, did NOT change what the Church IS, i.e., "The Body of Christ, with Christ as the 'invisible head'," working by the action of the Holy Spirit, through the "visible head," the successor of Peter. And, no council ever changes what the Church DOES, i.e., bringing us the teaching, authority and sanctification of Christ. As some of the other councils did, Vatican II clarified certain truths and doctrines, and changed some of "the ways" of doing things. A council can change "the way" of doing things, such as the way of saying Mass or hearing confessions; no council can change "what" the

Church does.

Here are some excerpts from some of the vital articles contained in the CCC. Those comments not in quotation marks are my own.

"The CCC, which I approved June 25th last, and the publication of which I today order by virtue of my Apostolic Authority, is a statement of the Church's faith and of catholic doctrine, attested to or illumined by Sacred Scripture, the Apostolic Tradition, and the Church's Magisterium. I declare it to be a sure norm for teaching the faith and thus a valid and legitimate instrument for ecclesial communion. May it serve the renewal to which the Holy Spirit cease-lessly calls the Church of God, the Body of Christ, on her pilgrimage to the undiminished light of the Kingdom!" (CCC page 5 #3 1st paragraph)

"Moved by the grace of the Holy Spirit and drawn by the Father, we believe in Jesus and confess: "You are the Christ, the Son of the living God." On the rock of this faith confessed by St. Peter, Christ built His Church." (CCC #424).

"When Christ instituted the Twelve, "he constituted [them] in the form of a college or permanent assembly, at the head of which he placed Peter, chosen from among them." Just as "by the Lord's institution, St. Peter and the rest of the apostles constitute a single apostolic college, so in like fashion the Roman Pontiff, Peter's successor, and the bishops, the successors of the apostles, are related with and united to one another." (CCC # 880).

"The Lord made Simon alone, whom he named Peter, the "rock" of his Church. He gave him the keys of his Church and instituted him shepherd of the whole flock. "The office of binding and loosing which was given to Peter was also assigned to the college of apostles united to its head." This pastoral office of Peter and the other apostles belongs to the Church's very foundation and is continued by the bishops under the primacy of the Pope." (CCC #881)

"The Pope, Bishop of Rome and Peter's successor, is the perpetual and visible source and foundation of the unity both of the bishops and of the whole company of the faithful." "For the Roman Pontiff, by reason of his office as Vicar of Christ, and as pastor of the entire Church has full, supreme, and universal power over the whole Church, a power which he can always exercise unhindered." (CCC #882)

"The college or body of bishops has no authority unless united

with the Roman Pontiff, Peter's successor, as its head." As such, this college has "supreme and full authority over the universal Church; but this power cannot be exercised without the agreement of the Roman Pontiff." (CCC #883)

The Pope does not have to consult with any part of the Church to make these decisions. He makes them on his own. And they, of themselves, are correctly called irreformable.

"Even when he is not speaking ex-cathedra (which is when he stands up and proclaims himself as a successor of Peter and makes a proclamation), his teachings on matters of faith and morals demand religious submission of will and of mind."

Some maintain that "We only have to accept the Pope's infallible proclamations."

That is not true.

We must also accept his authoritative teachings. The infallible proclamations are usually made on matters of faith, or to define a truth, as in the case of the Arian heresy. When the Pope said, "Christ is God, equal to God the Father and God the Holy Spirit in all things," he was defining a truth.

That is a matter of faith.

Morals have to do with our conduct.

In matters of morals, the Pope gives authoritative teaching. For example, when he repeats something again and again, consistently, then it becomes authoritative teaching. It is usually not a declared "ex-Cathedra" teaching, as are the matters of faith.

"Ex-Cathedra" declarations are "set in concrete," so to speak; once they are made, they can never, be changed, because they define a truth. Authoritative teaching, which usually involves the interpretation and application of a moral law, may change, as noted in the matter of charging interests on money loaned.

That is why the Pope generally does not make "ex-Cathedra" teachings on matters of morals (though he may do so).

As Catholics, we accept that the Pope's authority was conferred by Christ, and by the promise of Christ will bring us what is the will of Christ.

We who are Catholic believe that Jesus Christ is the Invisible Head of our Church, and He now works through the visible head, who today is the Pope. The Pope exists as the visible head to bring us His teaching, His authority and His sanctification, so that we can come to Christ.

When the Pope speaks, he speaks with the authority of Christ when he speaks on matters of faith and morals.

If the Pope talks about politics or science, etc., you can say, 'That's nice, but I'm not interested.' (One Pope even said that the world was flat, not round; he was NOT infallible when speaking about science.) But when he speaks on matters of faith and morals, we must consent with our will and our mind.

Dissident Theologians

Today, there are certain theologians and their followers who feel that they can legitimately disagree with certain teachings of the church, especially on sexual morality. Their reasoning, according to one theologian, is: ". . .The Church is the Body of Christ and we ARE the Church, therefore what comes from 'us' is coming from the 'Body of Christ,' and therefore is of and from Christ Himself. Therefore, it is the 'experience of the faith community' that should be making these decisions on abortion, birth control, divorce and remarriage, etc., not some man in Rome."

Now, there are people who have read books written by men of human wisdom. They have credentials to testify to their expertise in theology, but, they have become quite confused because they have forgotten or ignore a very simple fact of anatomy: every living and functioning body must have a head, and it is the head that has authority over all members of that body. While the body may have multiple fingers and toes, arms and legs, it has only ONE head!

Any part of the body that refuses to accept that authority must be cut off "and cast outside — cast into fire, and they shall burn" (John 15:1-7).

We who are Catholics acknowledge that Jesus Christ is the Invisible Head of this one Church that He founded, structured and sanctified; and that, by the action of the Holy Spirit, He works through the visible head that He appointed, Peter and his successors.

The decisions by this 'successor of Peter' on 'faith and morals' are not coming from 'some man in Rome,' but are coming through him from Jesus Christ. If we reject what comes from this authority, then we are rejecting the authority itself and the one who appointed the authority, Jesus Christ! (NOTE: I deeply respect any person who after intelligent and objective evaluation does not accept this doctrine of Papal Authority, and so identifies himself as a non-Catholic. However, anyone who does not accept the fullness of the Pope's authority, and yet calls himself a 'Catholic,' is either confused or a liar, leading others into confusion or toward Satan. Confusion is the

single most effective weapon that Satan has in causing intellectual and spiritual loss of faith.)

Theologians certainly have a right and an obligation to bring questions to this authority, as they did to Peter in regard to the question of circumcision. But once they have been given the answer, then they must accept that answer or decision "by the men of authority", as did St. Paul.

I repeat, if they reject what comes from an authority then, in fact, they have rejected the authority itself and so should identify themselves as non-Catholic. Further dissension and discussion only serve to divide and confuse the faithful and have no useful purpose except to give notoriety and publicity for those doing the dissenting. When the Pope visited the United States in 1989, he spoke to our bishops clearly and decisively in regard to dissenting theologians. The following are his direct quotes:

"To accept faith is to give assent to the Word of God as transmitted by the Church's authentic Magisterium."

"Dissent from Church doctrine remains what it is, dissent; as such it may not be proposed or received on an equal footing with the Church's authentic teaching."

"It is sometimes claimed that dissent from the Magisterium is totally compatible with being a "good Catholic" and poses no obstacle to the reception of the sacraments. This is a grave error that challenges the teaching office of the bishops of the United States and elsewhere."

Question: Why have our bishops not acted more aggressively in identifying these dissenters and correcting their teachings? Why do they allow them to speak in their diocese, and even be paid to lecture and direct certain catechetical conferences and Catholic institutions and schools? We, the laity, deserve an explanation!

God will demand an explanation!

What is the Church?

The Church is a 'mystery,' i.e., no one can fully understand all that it is. However, in Holy Scripture, St. Paul gives us an excellent place to start: "THE CHURCH IS THE BODY OF CHRIST" (I Cor. 12: 27-31); (Vatican II, The Church, Article 14). Everything that is YOU is in your body: your heart, your mind, your spirit, your soul, and YOUR person.

If the Church is indeed "The Body of Christ," then the complete Christ comes to us only in and through the one Church. He founded, directed and sanctified it to be a continuation of Himself in the world until the end of time!

The function of a "body" is to take a "person" where he wants to go so that he can do what he wants to do.

WHERE CHRIST WANTS TO GO IS TO YOU, AND WHAT HE WANTS TO DO WHEN HE GETS THERE IS TO GIVE TO YOU ALL THAT IS NECESSARY FOR YOUR SALVATION!

Clearly and with certainty, He wishes to TEACH the TRUTHS about God and His Kingdom (matters of faith).

And TEACH the GUIDELINES or LAWS that we must follow in our conduct in this life (matters of morals).

He wishes to provide us with definitive LEADERSHIP and ENLIGHTENMENT so that we will not be confused or led astray. He wishes to cleanse us of our sins and SANCTIFY us (make us worthy to be called Children of God). (Col. 2:15: St. John 20-23)

He wishes to be "With us" and "IN us" in a very special, personal way.

He wishes to unite us to Him as Loving Father and to each other as brothers and sisters.

He wishes that by our words and actions we give witness and testimony of Him to the world, i.e., that we LIVE in Christ, and that He lives in us.

The Church, then, being the Body of Christ, must bring to us the Person of Christ, the Teaching of Christ, the Authority of Christ, and the Sanctification of Christ; the Church must give witness and testimony to the world.

Jesus Christ founded and structured His Church so that it would do just that. St. Paul goes on to say that we are all 'members of this body' and each member is important for the whole body to function properly in its mission. No member or group is more or less important than the other, nor can one preempt or replace the other (1 Cor. 12: 4-31); (Vatican II, The Church, Article 13).

Christ structured this body so that it is made up of members who "rule" in the authority of Christ (Pope and hierarchy); members who "teach in the name of Christ" (the bishops, *when teaching in unison with the Pope and the Magisterium*); members who sanctify in the Person of Christ (priesthood); and members who give witness and testify and LIVE Christ (the laity).

All and together we ARE "The People of God;" or, a much better terminology which is laced all through the Old and New Testament. THE FAMILY OF GOD.

The community, or family, is why the Church exists. But we

must always remember that 'of itself' this 'Community' has no authority to govern, no power of the priesthood to sanctify, and no commission to teach except that which is given to it by Christ Himself through Peter and the Apostles. Pope John Paul II reminds us, "It is Christ alone who teaches . . . who governs . . . who sanctities...transmitted through the Church" (Apostolic Exhortation on Catechetics, October 25, 1979).

The "Person of Christ" is brought to us through His Priesthood. The "Presence and Sanctification of Christ" exists in and through His Sacraments. The "Teaching of Christ" rests in and is guarded by the Magisterium of the Church. The "Authority of Christ" was given to St. Peter and his successors. That part of the Church, which gives witness and testifies of Christ, is the laity.

As a Doctor of Medicine, let me offer my own anatomical, physiological composition of the Church as the Body of Christ, and of the laity being part of that Body:

The laity are the arms and legs, fingers and toes that take the body where it wants to go and helps it do what it needs to do.

But to remain alive and part of the body, it is necessary for them to have a blood supply to bring nutrition and oxygen. The blood supply is the sacraments that give us nourishment and life.

The blood must be supplied by the heart. The heart is the priesthood that brings us the sacraments of life and nourishment.

Each arm and leg have a major nerve that comes from the spinal cord and innervates all the functions of that member. These major nerves represent our bishops, who have authority over certain areas, but must ultimately act in coordination with the spinal cord and the brain.

The spinal cord represents what we call "The Magisterium" composed of senior bishops (Cardinals) who working with, and never without, the coordination with the visible head, the Pope, on matters of "Faith and Morals". The invisible head of the church is Jesus Christ who by the action of the Holy Spirit (promised at the last supper) inspires the visible head with (or without) the Magisterium to act infallibly in matters of faith (what we believe) and morals (our conduct in regards to Gods laws).

Before Christ, only the Jewish religion contained God's promise. Christ came to fulfill those promises, not to destroy them (Matthew 5: 17-20). Christ brought this fullness of truth and salvation in a new and everlasting covenant to this one religion and sanctified it in His blood. There really can be only one truth of God and

from God: there can be only one Church and that IS the Catholic Church, the fullness of Christ. (Matt 26; 27: Mark 14; 24: Luke 22; 20)

The Church is the "Body of Christ" and where the living body IS, the Person IS; therefore, to find the fullness of Christ, the TOTAL CHRIST, we MUST find and accept His Church. We must all diligently search for that Church that Christ founded and structured and sanctified to bring us a continuation of Himself to all generations. That Church must continue in His authority, His Priesthood and Sacraments, and His teaching.

Should you accept any less than His Catholic Church?

The description that St. Paul gives of "The Church" and the purpose of The Church (Rom. 12: 4-8; 1Cor 12: 4-31; Eph 4: 1-32: Col 1: 16-24: 2;19) leaves no doubt as to which Church St. Paul was referring to then and now, as, "The Body of Christ: especially vs. 11, 16. "... apostles (bishops) ... prophets ... evangelists ... pastors (priest) ... teachers ... to build up the Body of Christ, until we all attain the unity of faith and deep knowledge of the Son of God ... to perfect manhood to the mature measure of the fullness of Christ ... that we may no longer be tossed to and fro by every wind of doctrine devised in the wickedness of men (or dissident theologians), in craftiness, according to the wiles of error ... grow all things in Christ the head ... Christ, the whole body ... "

". . . glory be to Him from generation to generation in the Church and in Christ Jesus for ever and ever. Amen." (Ephesians 3:21)

Each semester when I start to teach CCD, the first question I ask my students, on the first day and each day is, "Where are you now – the complete you?" They answer one by one, "I am here now." "Correct," I reply, "but do you know that I can tell each one of you where 'the complete you' will be tomorrow, next week and at any minute of any day in the future?" The complete **you** will be, and **will only be** wherever your body is. If the Church truly is "The Body of Christ" then the "Complete Christ is in the Church, and only in the Church." I repeat, the Bible, the Sacrament, the priesthood, the Pope and the people are each a part of the Church, all together ARE the Church, "Christ Incarnate" in the world. In and through the Church, Christ is as present as He was on earth two thousand years ago! Think of Christ and Church as ONE! The main thought I wish to leave here is if I ever consider leaving the church for ANY reason: Poor sermons, scandals, lack of social life etc. I think of

what the confused Peter said, "where would I go, you are the Lord". (St. John 6: 66, 71)

Matters of Conscience

"Conscience" comes from the Latin: "con" meaning "with", and "scire" meaning "to know"; hence, a judgment formed with knowledge.

Conscience is your judgment of what is right and wrong in relation to a set of laws. You have a conscience in regards to civil laws. You read the laws and you form what is right and wrong in relation to that law, as interpreted and applied by our courts and judges, especially the Supreme Court of our country.

You have a social conscience, i.e., issues of personal hygiene. And you have a religious conscience.

Your religious conscience has to be formed by and with the knowledge of God's law — by revelation from God, or from understanding through His Church. God gave us revelation so that we could have an informed conscience. We must form our conscience as to what is God's law, and then make our judgment from that point. (CCC #1785)

Here is one critical question you have to ask yourself: 'If God told you to do something that you felt violated your conscience, would you do it?' Sure you would, if you were absolutely sure it was God speaking. You would correct your conscience. We who are believers must form our conscience to coincide with the laws of God.

Those who are not believers try to change the laws of God to coincide with their conscience. The abortionist do this. That is the difference between a true Christian and one who wants to play at being a Christian. When you find out what is God's law, you must change to conform to His laws. Do not try to change His laws to conform to what you feel, or the experience of community. "Am I trying to please God or man?" (Galatians 1: 9-10).

Many 'experiences' result in heresies that develop from time to time. Going by "experience alone" reduces the Bible and Church teaching to a 'human experience thing,' negated or changeable by further 'human experiences,' resulting in the formation of 'Humanism' or 'Modernism' or 'Spiritual Liberalism,' or 'Jungism,' or 'Radical Feminism' each is a Church of Satan. For example, many today say we must accept pluralism in the Church. Well, that depends upon how you define it. (Pluralism means that there are two sets of teachings.) Now, if you mean by "pluralism" that you

should accept different ways of saying the same thing, yes, we should accept that. It is no different than calling our President 'the Chief Executive of the United States,' or 'the President of the United States.'

If there is a pluralism that gives you two different doctrines, we cannot accept that. This type of accepting different doctrines and calling it 'acceptable pluralism' is the cliche or slogan used by those who wish to cause confusion, and the destruction of the Church. "Do not be led away by empty words and slogans." (1 Timothy 3:13; 6:35; 2 John 3:11; 1 Corinthians 2:19, etc.).

So pluralism must always be true to doctrine as it is outlined in the official Church documents if it is to be accepted. (N.C.D.)

Perhaps in all of scripture, that which is most misinterpreted is in St. John, Chapters 13, 14, 15, 16 & 17 when Jesus promises to send the Holy Spirit "Who will teach you all things . . ." A person reading this will assume that it applies to himself personally. When Jesus says something, the person to whom He says it is as important as are the words. On the mountain speaking to the multitudes He said 'you may not change anything,' but speaking to one man, Peter, He said, "whatever you bind (change) on I will bind in heaven; whatever you loose on earth (change) I will loose in heaven" (Matt. 16,19). At the Last Supper He was speaking only to His Twelve Apostles as a group and in effect saying when you twelve, with Peter as the one in authority, gather as leaders of my Church then "the Holy Spirit will guide you in all things." On an individual basis, even the Apostles were confused about circumcision. Only when they gathered, as church with Peter in authority was the question clarified (Acts 15, 15-20).

Three of the most important guidelines we must use in interpreting scripture are these:

- We must have knowledge of the language and customs of the time. A word spoken then may have an entirely different meaning than that same word spoken now. The Jews had no word for cousin so the word "brother" could be a cousin or other close relative.
- We must determine who is speaking and in what capacity or nature. At times Christ spoke through His human nature and other times through His divine nature. When speaking through His divine nature, He was usually giving a doctrine and either had someone identify Him or He performed a miracle before or after His doctrine.

• To whom or what group is the message directed? Almost every new religion has resulted by man or woman or group concluding that they, above all other, are inspired by the Holy Spirit in their interpretation and application of the Holy Bible because they failed to apply this very important guideline in interpreting Holy Scripture: to whom does the message apply? In appointing Simon Peter to be the "rock" on which He would found His church, and to have power to "bind and to loose" He clearly singled him out by name. "You are the rock (Peter) and on this rock (authority) I will build my church" (Matthew 16:16-20)(John 21:15-17).

How did the early church understand and apply it. (Acts 15:7; 13:41. Acts 16:4, see chapter 5) When giving the sermon on the mountain, He was clearly speaking to all of His followers equally.

On the day of resurrection <u>He had only His apostles present</u> when He said, "receive the Holy Spirit . . . as the Father has sent Me (to teach, guide and sanctify) I now send you (to act in His Person). Any sin you (my apostles or priests) forgive, it is forgiven, any sin you retain. it is retained" (John 20:23).

At he Last Supper, only His apostles were present (with Peter already identified as the one in authority), therefore, Christ promised only to them as a group "that the Holy Spirit would teach them all things" etc. (John 13:17) even in time to come, the Holy Spirit would guide them (John 16:12-13). It is quite obvious that our Lord is referring to "you" as being in the plural, i.e. when you (my apostles with Peter in authority and their successors) are gathered the Holy Spirit will act through you. As I said before, on an individual basis even the apostles were not infallibly inspired but were confused on the issue of circumcision until they had gathered and discussed the matter and it was clarified by Peter's authority that Christians no longer had to circumcise as a religious rite (Acts 15:6-12). The whole church accepted this decision as coming from them and "the Holy Spirit" (Acts 15:28) and St. Paul accepts their decision in Acts 16:4.

If I say I "love" a person, does it mean that I love them as a friend, as a brother or as a lover? Only I would know and before you would spread a lot of misinformation concerning what I meant, it would be wise and prudent to ask Me, would it not?

In the first and second centuries the then followers of Christ (Christians) were taught by the writers of the Gospels, etc., so would it not be prudent and wise to go back in the early writing of these Christians and bishops and leaders of the church to see how

the first Christians understood and applied the words of Scriptures? Contrary to what some might have you believe, since the time of Christ there has been no change in what the church is (the body of Christ, i.e. all that is Christ) and what she teaches. There have been times in the past and present when priests or even bishops have spoken in err and have personally caused scandal in the church by their actions or words; one of the original twelve, Judas did that, but again. I remind you that what the church is and the teaching of the Magisterium (i.e. the official teaching authority) has not changed in these two thousand years. Remember, the church can change ways of doing things but she has never and can never change what she is and teaches at Vat II, there were some changes in "the way" of doing things i.e. using the language of the land rather than Latin in saying Mass & liturgies; allowing confessions "face to face" as they did originally; allowing Sunday liturgy on Saturday evening as was the Jewish custom (evening to evening); changing church application of laws of fasting and abstenance and application of annulments of marriage, etc.: But no changes of doctrine, what the Church is, etc. (Art 85 C.C.C.. However this Magisterium is not superior to the law, but is it; servant, i.e., The Pope or the church can not allow divorce and remarriage, abortion, homosexual relation even if it wanted to) (Art 86 C.C.C.)

6 – MARY IN THE CHURCH

Mary cannot save your soul; you can be saved only through Jesus Christ. Her mission in the Church is to help lead us to Christ.

Many of the most beautiful dissertations on the Blessed Virgin Mary have come from Archbishop Fulton J. Sheen. Therefore, a great deal of these words, thoughts and inspirations will have come from him. Archbishop Sheen has written that God might very well have two pictures of us: one is what we are, and the other is what we might be. In all of creation, the only person who could possibly be chosen to be the Mother of Christ would be that singular person whose picture in God's mind of what she could be was exactly the same as the picture of what she was.

Mary is not a goddess and has no power or authority of her own other than that given her by and through God. Our power of reasoning must conclude that Mary, chosen to be the earthly mother of "the Son of God," has to be the most perfect, and therefore,

the most honored, of all of God's creatures.

Catholic understanding about the Virgin Mary, mother of Jesus, is based in part on the place the Second Vatican Council gave to Mary. The key statements are found in the "Constitution on the Sacred Liturgy" and in the final chapter of the "Dogmatic Constitution on the Church."

The Gospel offers a comparison between Abraham and Mary. God was so pleased with Abraham that He willed that His chosen people would come from his (Abraham's) seed. To this day, the Jews honor him by calling him "Abraham, our father." Likewise, because Mary was so pleasing to God, He chose her to be the mother of the one who would be the salvation of mankind. She is thus honored by us by being called, "Mary, our Mother." The unique honor given to her in Holy Scripture is that "all generations shall call me Blessed." (Luke 1:48)

As truth, grace, authority and sanctification comes from Christ through the apostles and their successors, i.e., the bishops and their priests (John 20: 21-23), this hierarchy then is representative of that which is Christ. Mary, being a recipient of this truth, grace and sanctification, symbolizes 'the community of the Church,' i.e., we the people.

Tradition tells us that the reason Mary remained here on earth after the Ascension of Christ was to be an inspiration and example to us of what a 'member of the Mystical Body of Christ' should be. Mary, then, is truly the patron saint of the people of the Body of Christ the Church.

John's gospel pictures Mary at Cana and at Calvary - beginning and the end of her son's public life. About Mary's later life, the Scriptures are silent. The last time she appears is in the Acts of the Apostles, at the heart of the band of apostles praying for the coming of the Holy Spirit at Pentecost.

The Immaculate Conception (Mary's freedom from original sin) and the Assumption (Mary's being one with the risen Christ in the fullness of her being: body, as well as soul) — both doctrines have been solemnly proclaimed as revealed truth in dogmatic definitions by Pope Plus IX in 1864, and by Plus XII in 1950. Mary's last statement in Holy Scripture describes well her mission and purpose (John 2:5): "Jesus' mother then told the servants, 'Do whatever He tells you'." Basically, her message at Fatima was exactly the same message, telling us to do all that Christ has commanded us to do.

Praying to Mary and the Saints

Our ultimate salvation can be accomplished only by the sacrifice made by another: our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ. Therefore, it follows that if we offer to God our own prayers and sacrifices for another; He must accept this in their name. Mary's perfection of spirit must include a perfection of love.

Her "perfect love" assures each of us that she loves us as her own children. If we ask Mary and the saints to plead our case before God, then will not they respond and will God not listen?

How could Christ refuse His own most perfect creation, His own mother and those who have served Him well? Therefore, we ask Mary and the saints to pray for us in exactly the same way that we ask a priest or minister or friend to pray for us. This is not in place of prayer to God, but is in addition to prayer. That Christ answers Mary's prayer is proved by the many miraculous cures of the sick at Fatima, Lourdes, and other shrines that honor her throughout the world. These miracles are documented and proved by definitive medical tests and authorities so as to remove any possibility of emotionalism or uncertainty.

7 – PURGATORY

Stating it very simply, purgatory is the state of cleansing before we are admitted to our heavenly kingdom. Perhaps we might better understand it if we evaluate some rather obvious facts: A soul would merit hell only for a serious, un-repented offense against Almighty God (a mortal sin). Yet, man cannot enter Heaven with any stain of sin on his soul, ". . . nothing profane shall enter heaven . . ." (Rev 21:27). Therefore, what is to happen to a man who has a small (venial) sin on his soul for which he has not yet repented?

God in His justice would certainly not condemn him to hell, and yet only those whose 'robes are washed white' may enter into the kingdom of Heaven. There must be a way and a place of cleansing. The Church calls this place purgatory. We may debate the time and the type of suffering that we may expect because of our own voluntary offenses against God and our fellow man. Make no mistake about it, God has been very definitive through revelation in the Old and New Testaments that we must expect punishment for our sins. The Church teaches that the suffering of purgatory will be a punishment, but only for a limited time. How long and how much no one

really knows, but she relates it to us in relative terms which we can comprehend.

Old and New Testaments indicate repeatedly that there are good works and prayers that will lessen the punishment due us because of our sins (St. James 5:19-20). Prayers and acts which acknowledge God and those who have served Him well certainly are pleasing to Him, and such devotion we believe will lessen the punishment which we deserve. The Church calls these indulgences and relates such prayers or acts in relative terms as days of indulgences. Certain great acts of faith, penance or charity, the Church teaches, may result in a plenary indulgence, which is the removal of all punishment due for all sins of the past.

Christ and the Magisterium of the Church have always taught that the merit of a gift or act has no relationship to the amount of the gift or the greatness of the act itself, but rather by the intent and sacrifice involved. Christ made this very clear in His story about the "widow's mite."

Scriptural Basis for Purgatory and Prayers for the Dead:

The fact is well established in the Old and New Testaments that there is forgiveness of sin and yet also there remains punishment due because of our sin. Forgiveness basically means that God has accepted us back into His family and we can again eat at His table and re-establish our inheritance to His kingdom.

Forgiveness does not necessarily mean TOTAL remission of punishment. God forgave the Jews for adoring the golden calf because of the intercession of Moses on their behalf (Exodus 32:10-14). "And the Lord was appeased from doing the evil which He has spoke against His people," and yet for this and many transgressions, they also received punishment of atonement for sins. Moses was forgiven for his transgression but as punishment he was not allowed to enter into the Promised Land (Numbers 20:8-13). There are also instances of God accepting prayer and sacrifices of others as appeasement; i.e., (Numbers 14). But even here, the people were punished by not being allowed to enter the Promised Land. Jesus repeatedly stated that man would be punished for his sins. So what of the sins for which man has not been punished but for which he has been forgiven?

Again, God in His love cleanses our soul in justice; this we call purgatory. But how can our prayers help those who have gone on before us? Logical thinking tells us if we offer prayer or sacrifice on behalf of another, living or dead, God would so accept it. The bibli-

cal basis for this thinking is as follows:

"It is therefore a holy and wholesome thought to pray for the dead, that they might be loosed from their sins" (2 Maccabees 12:43-40)."Will cover many sins". (St. James 5:29)

"Jesus said, 'Come to terms quickly with thy opponent while thou art on the way within this life, lest thy opponent deliver thee to the judge (God), and the judge to the officer (Satan) and thou be cast into prison (hell or suffering). Amen, I say to thee, thou will not come out of it (place of cleansing – "purgatory" we call it) until thou hast paid the last penny" (Matthew 5:25-26)

Luke 12:58-59 contains basically the same statement as Matthew 5:25-26.

"Jesus said, 'Whoever speaks against the Holy Spirit (ascribe to the devil the works of the Holy Spirit: i.e., rejects the source of truth and salvation), it will not be forgiven him, either in this world, or the world to come" (Matthew 12:31-37).

The above passage indicates that there will be certain sins for given in the world to come, in the way God has provided.

"The fire will assay the quality of every man's work . . . if his work burns (poor quality, i.e., involved no true effort and sacrifice), then he shall lose his reward, but he himself will be saved, yet so as through fire". (I Corinthians 3:13-15).

"In which He (Christ) went and preached to those spirits that were in prison. These in times past had been disobedient" (1 Peter 3:13-20).

"... the gospel was preached even to the dead ..." (1 Peter 4:6) if the dead were in hell, why preach to them?

Putting together the promise of Christ and the Holy Spirit so that we cannot be misled on matters of faith and morals, the teaching authority of the Church states clearly that there is indeed a state and way of cleansing a soul from less severe sin or punishment due to sin. This state we call purgatory. We on earth can lessen the burden on these souls by offering our prayers and sacrifices in their name.

Those who have willingly rejected God and His mercy, by serious (mortal) sin and are unrepentant will condemn themselves to everlasting punishment, and these are beyond our help in any way.

Those who are saved and cleansed are in God's kingdom and do not need our help. On the final Day of Judgment, all cleansing will have been completed and there will be only heaven and hell. In the CCC, under "The Final Purification #1030 to 1032, we learn the following:

- Christians have a duty to pray for the dead such as deceased relatives, friends, and all the faithful departed.
- Each individual has an awesome responsibility for his or her eternal destiny. The importance of the individual judgment after death, of the refining and purifying passage through purgatory, of the dreadful possibility of eternal death, which is hell, of the last judgment all should be understood in light of Christian hope.
- At the last judgment, all people will fully reach their eternal destiny. The lives of all are to be revealed before the tribunal of Christ so that "each one may receive his recompense, good or bad, according to his life in the body" (2 Corinthians 5:10). Then, "the evildoers shall rise to be damned," and "those who have done right shall rise to live" (John 5:29): a life eternally with God beyond what the human heart can imagine, a life of eternal enjoyment of the good things prepared by God for those who love Him.

8 – SATAN AND HIS DOCTRINE

Currently, in the public re-affirmation of our baptismal vows, it is not unusual for the minister to leave out the part by which we revoke Satan and all his pomp, etc., and replace it simply by saying, "we renounce all that is evil."

In one sense, this is a small thing, but theologically, it is very significant.

Would it be correct to say simply that we are saved by "all that is good" even if in the back of our minds we equate all that is good as coming from God?

I do not think so, as scripture and Church teach that we are saved only by the person of our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ, and what He did for us on the cross. All of that which we call "good," if it is separated from Christ, will not save us. (St. John 3;1,21)

Since the earliest writings of scripture, and the earliest teaching of the Church, the person of Satan is acknowledged. In our

prayer to St. Michael, the archangel, we ask him to "be our safeguard against the wickedness and snares of the Devil," and we ask God that He thrust into hell "Satan and all of the evil spirits who roam through the world seeking the ruin of souls."

Has the teaching on Satan and evil spirits changed with Vatican II? No, it has not!

Austin Flannery, O.P., as general editor of "Vatican Collection, Volume 2, of Vatican Council II, Post Consiliar Document," in the chapter on Demonology, discusses that some contemporary (modernist?) views would abolish the teaching that Satan and evil spirits exist. And then he goes on to clarify what is the Church teaching in this statement:

"The conclusion is therefore inescapable. That Satan, whom Jesus attacked with His exorcisms and confronted in the wilderness and in His passion, cannot be simply a product of the human ability to tell stories and personify ideas, nor a stray survival of a primitive culture and its language."

In his discussion "B. The Pauline Writings," he states,

Moreover, Paul does not identify sin with Satan. He sees sin first and foremost for what it really is in its essence: a personal human act leading to that state of sin and blindness into which Satan desires to bring and keep men." Paul thus clearly distinguishes Satan from sin. Satan assuredly leads men into sin, but he is himself distinct from the evil he leads them to do.

This statement surely implies that in our baptismal vows, simply saying that "we reject all that is evil" is inadequate.

There is indeed an evil spirit-person who is identified as the "devil," or "Satan," who was "originally good and filled with light," but unfortunately, did not persevere in the true faith in which he was created, but rebelled against the Lord. The evil, therefore, came not from his nature, but from a contingent act of his free will.

St. Paul also identifies Satan as "the evil spirit," saying he functions by inspiring teachers to bring us false doctrines. These instruments for evil become false prophets disguising themselves as apostles of Christ, just as Satan himself disguises himself as "an angel of light." (How many of our dissenting theologians and teachers who disguise themselves as "angels of light" are really confusing us with the doctrine of Satan?) (2 Corinthians 11:13, 15).

1 John 4:1 warns all teachers who believe that they are being led by "the Spirit, to make sure that our inspiration is coming from God, not the "evil spirit."

"Beloved, believe not every spirit, but try the spirits whether they are of God: because many false prophets are gone out into the world."

St. Paul gives us five (St. John gives us the first guideline: Do they sperate Jesus (the human) from Christ (the Messia, God) i.e. accept His humanity but denies His Divine Nature. (As the Divinci Code does?)) simple guidelines to identify the teachers inspired by the Holy Spirit (most dissenters ignore all five):

- Do they go to the men of authority (the Magisterium of the Church) as St. Paul did, to verify their teaching (Galatians I & 2; Acts 15:8-12; Acts 16:4). (Even though Paul had his knowledge by Divine Revelation.)
- 2. Are they teaching the crucified Christ, i.e., that we can be saved only by what Christ did for us on the cross (I Corinthians 1:23).
- 3. Are they trying to please men or please God, i.e., do they teach we must change and obey God's law (Galatians 1:10).
- 4. How was the teaching understood and practiced in the early church.
- 5. Do they deny that the Bible is revelations form God.

In conclusion, if we sin, we become more like Satan, and if we do not repent, we become one of "his own." If we follow the doctrine of Christ, the doctrine of the cross, then we become more like Christ, and one of "His own."

Satan disguises his teaching so that it "looks like" an acceptable teaching, but in essence, is quite the opposite to truth. "Like an angel of light and minister of justice". (2 Cor. 11:14, 15)

The Teachings of (Satan) the Evil Spirit

"If there is a God, He has no direct relationship to man. Therefore, there is no revelation from God to man, i.e., the Bible is ONLY the "experience" of some man or some community. Therefore, the experience of man or the community today equals the Bible as one commandment equals the other."

This is the basic concept of DISSENSION THEOLOGY. Therefore, if the community experience (whatever that is) tells us that divorce and remarriage is okay, that abortion is okay, that homosexuality is okay, that artificial birth control, fornication, masturbation, and adultery are okay — then they are okay!

Satan's Doctrine in Regard To Original Sin

"There really is no original sin! Theologians say that God could not create an imperfect soul, so this soul does not need to be saved." (Read St. John 3:13: Why no souls in heaven?)

This may well be the most demonic of his teachings, because, if it were true, then there would be no need for Christ!!! (Romans 5:12,20)

Satan's Doctrine as to Why Christ Came.

Satan cannot deny that Christ did exist, but he cannot acknowledge that Christ is necessary for salvation; therefore, he has to explain away this truth, and he does so by replacement psychology, i.e., giving you a substitution. Satan's explanation for Christ is "that he came to experience (that word again) our needs and to respond to these needs."

COMMUNITY becomes the center of the church rather than CHRIST; therefore, community is the authority, the teacher, etc.

(Note: Community is why the Church exists. But Christ, His doctrine, His authority, His ways and means of sanctifying MUST be the center and guiding force of that community for it to be called "Catholic.") (Dissension IS cause for excommunication!)

Satan's Doctrine as to Baptism

This sacrament has existed since Christ, and cannot be ignored, so here, rather than use replacement psychology, Satan uses a partial truth as a complete truth, i.e., "Baptism is your initiation into Community," and that is all that it is.

In other words, baptism is like joining a club.

The rest of what baptism is and does is ignored, i.e., your adoption into the Family of Christ, the forgiveness of original sin (remember, it does not exist), and forgiveness of all sin, the sharing of all of Christ's teaching, authority and sanctification. (Not teaching a complete truth can be as demonic as teaching a lie.)

Satan's Doctrine on the Bible

The Bible is not the work of God, but resulted as "experience of community". So, "experience of community today equals the Bible as one commandment equals the other".

All of Satanic doctrine given here is part of what is called

"Modernism" or "Humanism." The essence of Satan's teaching by his followers today is this: "You are an adult, and can make up your own mind, you do not need any set of rules — decide by what you think — not by what God knows." They are led by "the wisdom of man", rather then "by the learning of the spirit(i.e. by certain bible experts "rather" than by the teaching of the "Magesterium of the Church". (1 Cor 2: 11-16) "Teaching as doctrine the concept of man". (Matt 16;9) Do not be led astray...many will come in my name... lead many astray. (Matt 24:5) There are many, many Bible text that warn us to beware of those who teach false doctrines, and who do not acknowledge that the Church is the pillar and ministry of truths. (1 Tim 3:15) "For professing to be wise, they have become fools." (Romans 1:22 - also 24, 28) Watch for: words or phrases that cause doubt to arise as to actual occurrences of Biblical events, especially "words" spoken by Christ and things he did.

The Bible has many references of satanic teaching infiltrating the Church even in those times so it is nothing new. Just as the Holy Spirit tries to bring us the teachings of Christ, so also is it the evil spirit working to tempt us and to confuse us. (See page 78.)

Editor's Note: I have personally witnessed these satanic doctrines being taught by a nun, to teach grade school and CCD teacher of that diocese. These students had to attend her class in order to be certified to teach religious classes.

I mention this so that every Catholic realize that they <u>MUST</u> learn the doctrine of the Church as taught by the Catholic Catechism, so that they can intelligently confront such teachers and also that they themselves will not be led astray. This may well be the most important challenge to each lay-person in our time: and a challenge to our priest to use every opportunity including Sunday homilies to TEACH rather than preach. A teaching homily in today's world is like gold "that will stand the test of fire"; a preaching homily is more "like paper that burns" and is soon forgotten. (I Cor. 3; 13, 15) Feed us bread, not stones or valentines.

9 – OVERVIEW AND ADDITIONAL THOUGHTS ON CATHOLICS AND PROTESTANTS

Protestant Theology does indeed accept the doctrine of God, original sin, Christ as Lord and Savior, the necessity of Baptism, and that the Bible is the revealed Word of God.

The difference in a Christian Protestant and a Catholic is that in addition to what they believe, we also believe:

- 1. In the Priesthood of the Catholic Church as a continuation of the Priesthood of Christ.
- 2. In addition to the sacraments of Baptism and Matrimony, we believe that Christ also instituted other Sacraments; i.e., Holy Orders, Holy Eucharist, Reconciliation (Confession), Extreme Unction (anointing of the sick) and Confirmation. (Some Protestant denominations do accept some or all of these Sacraments).
- 3. The real, essential difference is that any person who is truly a Catholic accepts that he who validly follows in the succession of Peter (i.e., the Pope) does have final authority from Christ, by the action and guidance of the Holy Spirit, on matters of "Faith" (what we believe) and "Morals" (our conduct). (p. ii, iii)

Therefore, we believe that Christ is the Invisible Head of our Church, and acts through our visible head, the Pope. Thus, what comes from the Pope as "infallible" (ex-Cathedra) teaching, or as "authoritative teaching," is NOT coming from some man in Rome, but is actually coming from Jesus Christ THROUGH that man in Rome. (To have <u>unity</u> there <u>Must Be One Authority</u>.)

Anyone who does not accept this should not identify himself as "Roman Catholic."

The Council of Vatican II gives us a clear and decisive statement as to our obligation to accept the teachings of the Holy Father on faith and morals.

"The Roman Pontiff, head of the college of bishops, enjoys this infallibility in virtue of his office, when, as supreme pastor and teacher of all the faithful – who confirms his brethren in the faith (Luke 22:32) – he proclaims in an absolute decision a doctrine pertaining to faith or morals. For that reason his definitions are rightly said to be irreformable by their very nature and not by reason of the assent of the Church, in as much as they were made with the assistance of the Holy Spirit promised to him in

the person of blessed Peter himself; and as a consequence they are in no way in need of the approval of others, and do not admit or appeal to any other tribunal For in such a case the Roman Pontiff does not utter a pronouncement as a private person, but rather does he expound and defend the teaching of the Catholic faith as the supreme teacher of the universal Church, in whom the Church's charism of infallibility is present in a singular way (Dogmatic Constitution on the Church, Chapter III, #25, Nov. 12. 1964).

This article further reminds us that we are to be guided by our bishops "who are in union with the Pope, the Bishop of Rome, the Vicar of Christ" and those who are "teaching in communion with the Roman Pontiff."

In his statement to our bishops, when he visited the USA in 1988, the Holy Father reminded our bishops, "It is sometimes claimed that dissent from the Magisterium is totally compatible with being a 'Good Catholic' and poses no obstacle to the reception of the sacraments. This is a grave error that challenges the teaching office of the Bishops of the United States and elsewhere."

Council of Vatican II: There have been twenty-one Ecumenical Councils over the past 2000 years, and they have all functioned to do two things: 1. Clarify what is truth, and; 2. Indicate how the message and sanctification be brought to us in the most effective and meaningful way.

No council has ever changed what the Church is or what it does; though they have frequently changed "ways" of doing things!

Though some would have you believe otherwise, the post council of Vatican II Church has the same structure, sacraments and dogmas as the pre-Vatican II Church. Vatican II did relax certain disciplines, gave a broader interpretation to certain laws, and changed the way of administering certain sacraments, etc., but what the Church is, i.e., "Christ incarnate in the World," and what the Church is supposed to be doing, i.e., bringing the teaching, authority and sanctification to the world – HAS NOT CHANGED, nor can it!

The first commandment of our Lord to His Apostles was to "COME" with me that I may teach you, guide you and sanctify you. His last command was that they "GO" and make disciples... baptize them . . . "teach them to observe all that I have commanded you."

Therefore, one of the mandatory commands of Our Lord was to teach ALL. In his Exhortation on Catechesis, Pope John Paul II

interprets this to mean that of all the obligations of our bishops, priests, and all who teach in the name of Catholicism, their teaching be "not fragmented. but complete," be "not opinionated or confused but in certainty," be "that which is the teaching of the Magisterium (teaching authority) of the Church." If my intent was less than this, I would be more fearful of judgment than had I been a Hitler, as he was responsible only for the death of bodies, and I would be responsible for the loss of souls.

Perhaps the greatest evil in the Church and Christendom today is ignorance — ignorance of original sin and all sin, our need for Christ, "and Christ Crucified," and for what is the true and complete teaching of Christ as given through His one, holy, apostolic, Catholic Church.

We do not follow the teachings of the Church as a puppy follows its master. We follow the teaching of the Church — as thinking adults who know Christ as Lord and Savior, and know that His teaching comes to us THROUGH His Church. It is NOT some man in Rome who is teaching, but it is Christ giving his teaching THROUGH that man in Rome.

We cannot be "cafeteria-style Christians" who pick and choose what we will accept. If we can reject any part of Church teaching, then we can reject ALL of Church teaching, and then we really have no Church, no continuation of Christ in the world, and this would make Satan very happy. Final Thought

Why so many dissident theologians and different Christian religions, and yet we all agree on so many basic beliefs and essentially accept the same Bible?

Is it not because the founder of each religious group felt that they, above all others, were inspired by the Holy Spirit to know the intent of God from the words that were written? And to dissect "selected" parts of the "Body of Christ" (1 Cor 1;11-16: 1 Cor 2;11-16) "are they not mere man" (1Cor 3, 4) Doing what the Holy Spirit may not do. (St. John 16; 12-16) i.e. "speak on his own authority".

"Many things I have yet to say to you. . . , but when he, the Spirit of Truth comes, he will teach you all truth" (John 16:12).

The problem with the understanding of this passage is that it was said at the Last Supper when ONLY the twelve apostles were present as the leaders of His Church; this is applied primarily to them as His Church leaders, not to each and every one of us individually. On an individual basis the only one given authority to inter-

pret and apply His teaching was to St. Peter (Matthew 16:16-20).

St. Paul reminds us "The things of God no one knows but the spirit of God . . . these things we (the Church) teach, not words taught by human wisdom, but in the learning of the spirit." (1 Corinthians 2:11-13)

Some disciples of Satan even question the authenticity and accuracy of the Bible relating to what Christ said and did because the New Testament was not even started until thirty years after the death of Our Lord. However, the dogmatic teaching of "The Holy Spirit", (i.e. The Magisterium of the Catholic Church) is this: "The Church holds firmly that the four gospels, whose historicity he unhesitatingly affirms, faithfully hand on what Jesus, the Son of God, while he lived among men, really did and taught for their eternal salvation, until the day He was taken up". (C.C.C. Art 126-1) Anyone who "questions" this declaration of faith obviously "doubts" it, therefore does not accept it, therefore is not a Catholic and by "ignorance" or "knowingly" is a servant of the "Evil Spirit".

My reply to them is simple: at family gatherings, it is very common for brothers and sisters and family to relate and agree to the accuracy of events and words spoken thirty, forty and fifty years ago, and this without the inspiration and guidance of the Holy Spirit.

Remember also that immediately after the death and Ascension of Our Lord, the apostles and disciples went to all parts of the known world and though separated by weeks and months of communication time, their writings about Our Lord and His teaching were amazingly in agreement. (i.e. on doctrine)

Finally, I repeat dear reader that just as there is the Holy Spirit bringing us everything, which is Christ, there is also the evil spirit, and we must always use our judgment if the person or the message is coming from the Holy Spirit or the evil spirit. It is so important that I want to repeat that St. Paul gives us six basic guidelines to make our judgment: Guideline in Discerning Inspiration by "Holy Spirit" or "Evil Spirit" and you MUST do this. The Evil Spirit "question" or "denies" the following.

- 1. <u>First Guideline:</u> 1 St. John 4: 1,6, Jesus the christ: One "Person", Human and Divine Natures; cannot separate. The anti-christ. Basis for Dissent is confusion, loss of faith.
- 2. <u>Second Guideline:</u> Please God, or Please Man. (Gal.1,10) (i.e. make man comfortable in their sin)
- 3. Third Guideline: Teaching Approved by "Men of Authority', as

- did St. Paul. (who had his knowledge by divine revelation) (Matt16: 16, 20) (Gal 2:1,3: 6,7: 9,10: Acts15:40: Acts 16:4)
- 4. <u>Fourth Guideline</u>: Do they deny, or "question," that the Holy Bible (New Testament and Old Testament) <u>IS</u> revelation from God? Questions by Fr. Ray Brown: Comments by Fr. Ken Baker) (Page A) (C.C.C. Art 120-130)
- 5. <u>Fifth Guideline</u>: Accept the Church as pillar and mainstay of truth. (1Tim 3:15)
- Sixth Guideline: Do they accept St Paul's description of what the Church <u>IS</u>: The Body of Christ (Romans 12: 3, 8: 1 Cor.12: 27: Eph. 4:1, 32: Col. 1: 18, 34) i.e. everything that <u>IS</u> Christ continues in the world for all generations <u>in and through</u> His Church, "Christ Incarnate".

10 – WHY BE A CATHOLIC? SUMMATION OF CATHOLIC TEACHING (From "Catholics and the Bible")

Do not be a Catholic just because you were born a Catholic or raised a Catholic. Be a Catholic because you have prayerfully investigated and studied what the Catholic Church really is; its origin, its history, its teaching.

Be a Catholic because:

- It is the only Christian church that can trace its origin, its teaching, its priesthood and authority in an unbroken line back to the twelve apostles and Christ. It was the only Christian church for over 1500 years.
- It is the only church that continues in the fullness of Christ; all of His Teaching, all of His Sacraments, all of His authority.
- It is the only church whose teaching is consistent with the Holy Bible and teaches the full Bible; it does not pick and choose some parts and ignore other parts.
- It interprets the Bible more literally than any other church: The Bible says we may not divorce and remarry and the Church says we may not divorce and remarry; the Bible says that Jesus would give us His Body to eat and His Blood to drink, and the Church says that at the Last Supper and at each "memorial of the Last Supper" (the Mass) He gives us His Body to eat and His Blood to drink; the Bible says that Jesus told His Apostles

that they could forgive sins and "they would be forgiven" (John 20: 21-23), and the Church says that His Apostles (and those who are ordained through the apostleship (Acts 1, 15, 26) can forgive sins.

Bible Quotations All Catholics Should Be Able To Explain

The place to begin to understand the Church, what it is and its teaching, is the Holy Bible. All Church teaching fits hand and glove with Holy Scripture. As Pope Paul VI reminded us "ignorance of the Bible is ignorance of Christ" and "ignorance of Christ is ignorance of the one Church that was founded, structured and sanctified by the person of Christ."

All of scripture is important, but certain key scriptural quotations should be well memorized and understood so as to act as anchor points for specific and general Church teaching.

First, let us quote some general guidelines the *Catechism of the Catholic Church* (CCC) that we as Catholics must accept.

The CCC especially in Article 3: II, 105 clearly states the Church's position that the Bible is indeed revelation from God. It also strongly encourages all Catholics to read and study the Holy Bible . . . "The Church "forcefully and specifically exhorts all the Christian faithful . . . to learn 'the surpassing knowledge of Jesus Christ,' by frequent reading of the divine Scriptures" (Article 3: V; 133). The CCC also states that there is no new revelation ". . . there will be no other word than this one" (Article 1: III, 65). i.e., no "experience" in the Church today can in any way change, subtract or add to that which is Holy Scripture, in this sense.

Interpretation Of Holy Scripture

In I Corinthians 2: 11-13), St. Paul taught us that...
"The things of God no one knows but the spirit of God.
These things we also speak, not in words taught by human wisdom, but in the learning of the spirit."

Therefore, we who are Catholic look to this teaching authority of the Church for knowledge of what was intended by God in revelation, "critical scholarship of itself is not the ultimate source of full interpretation of the sacred texts. This interpretation is the gift of the Holy Spirit given to the Church and guarded by the Magisterium. Everyone who is Catholic must reject any teaching by a "theologian or a Bible scholar" that is not consistent with the teaching of the Church, as they have only the "human wisdom," whereas the Church has had "the learning of the spirit for 2000 years." (Art 881-

887 C.C.C.)

Importance Of Doctrine

Jesus Himself warns us that unless we hear His word (learn His doctrine), and live His word, we will be "washed away and utterly destroyed" (Matthew 7:24-27).

We cannot be certain that we are following the doctrine of Christ unless we know what is His doctrine. Satan is most happy when one calls himself a Christian, but teaches and follows his (Satan's) doctrine.

"The Church of the Living God, the pillar and mainstay of truth" (I Timothy 3:15).

"If anyone teaches otherwise and does not agree with the sound instruction of Our Lord Jesus Christ and that doctrine...he is proud, knowing nothing" (I Timothy 6: 3-5).

"Who does not abide in the doctrine of Christ, has not God" (2 John 8:11).

St. Paul chastises those who claim to have the "wisdom" of man. (The dissenting theologian and others who refuse to accept, and who attack the teachings of the Church and the Holy Father always quote other dissenters like themselves who have only the wisdom of man and not the "learning of the Holy Spirit" as promised to the teaching authority of the Church).

"That your faith might rest not on the wisdom of man, but on the power of God" (I Corinthians 2:1,9).

"Even so, the things of God no one knows but the spirit of God . . .these things we teach, not in words taught by human wisdom, but in the learning of the spirit" (I Corinthians 2:11.13).

Faith is a gift from God, but to retain that faith we must have knowledge of Christ and His teachings (Matthew 7:21-27).

"Faith depends on hearing the words of Christ" (Romans 10:14-17).

Authority Of Peter (Art 880-887 C.C.C.)

In the Old Testament, God changed men's names to identify a position. He changed Abram (Honored Father) to Abraham (Honored Father to the multitude). Even today, he is called Abraham, father. Jacob was changed to Israel (seed); his descendants are called Israelites. (Gen.17: 5: 35; 10)

Christ identifies himself as "The Rock," and then Christ changes Simon's name to "Cephas," which is interpreted to mean

"Rock" or "Peter," to identify his position (John 1:24).

In Matthew 16:18-20, it says:

"You are the rock, and upon this rock I will build my church. What you bind I will bind . . . what you loose I will loose" (i.e., your decision will be my decision).

In John 21:15-17, Christ identifies Himself as the Good Shepherd, and then transfers this title to Peter. "Feed my lambs . . . feed my lambs . . . feed my sheep," i.e., you are the shepherd.

In Acts 15:6-12, Peter identifies his authority, and then uses it to make the decision on circumcision.

"I remind you, Christ chose me, that through my mouth shall come the words to the gentiles that they may believe."

Paul accepts this authority in Acts 16:4, and in Galatians, Chapters 1 and 2: 1 first went to the men of authority to verify my teaching."

Matthew 18:15-18 shows clearly that what the Church shall bind, Christ will bind.

For 2,000 years, Catholics have accepted that whoever follows in the succession of St. Peter continues in this authority given by Christ to Peter. Linus was the head of the Church after Peter, then came Cletus, Clement, Sixtus, etc., down to John Paul II (all except three are buried beneath St. Peter's in Rome).

Priesthood

The words directed to the apostles at the Last Supper by Christ, and in many other places in scripture, clearly indicate that Christ intended to institute the priesthood:

"Amen, Amen, I say to you, he who receives anyone I send, receives Me" (John 13:20).

"You have not chosen Me, but I have chosen you and have appointed you so that you should go and bear fruit, and that your fruit shall remain" (John 15:16).

"Because you are not of the world, But I have chosen you out of the world" (John 15:19).

"And I am no longer in the world, but these are in the world" (John 17:11).

"And the world hated them because they are not of the world, even as I am not of the world" (John 17:14).

"Even as thou has sent me into the world, so I also have sent them into the world" (John 17:18).

"That all may be one, even as Thou Father, in Me and

I in Thee" (John 17:21).

"That they may be perfected in unity" (John 17:23).

On the day of His Resurrection, Christ said TO His Apostles,

"As the Father has sent Me, I also send you." When He had said this, He breathed upon them and said to them . . . Receive the Holy Spirit, whose sins you shall forgive, they are forgiven them, and whose sins you retain, they are retained" (John 20:21-23).

The apostles were ordained to be an "extension" of the priesthood of Christ — (i.e. act in His person, "Personna Christie") not "another" priest. The apostles understood that they had the authority to pass this priesthood on from one to another when they chose Matthias to take the place of Judas "as one of the 12 apostles," i.e., apostolic succession (Acts 1:15-26). (Only the apostles, i.e., the bishops, have the fullness of the priesthood and can ordain others into the priesthood. The apostles "ordained" assistants, i.e., presbyters, which we now call priests, with a limited power of the priesthood to teach and administer certain sacraments, etc.; and the deacon to assist in other Church duties — Acts 6:1,7; Acts 1:5,6).

Confession Or Reconciliation

"Whose sins you forgive, they are forgiven them, etc." (John 20:21-23). The apostles are given the power and authority to forgive sins.

"Confess your sins to one another" (James 5:15).

For 2,000 years, Catholics have been confessing their sins to those who are the continuation of the apostles, i.e., a priest or a bishop. By confessing or telling their sins, they are asking Christ, through this priest, to accept their burden of sin, onto His Cross, to be washed in His blood, i.e., to be justified or cleansed. Christ wants us to hand Him our sins personally, not throw them out into the empty void of space.

The Holy Eucharist

At the Last Supper, in Matthew, Mark and Luke, the Holy Eucharist is instituted by Christ through the Words, "This is my body . . . this is my blood." You (my priest) do this in commemoration of Me."

Christ gives a dissertation which goes on for fifty verses, repeating in ten different ways that He will give us His Flesh to eat and His Blood to drink (John 6:22-72).

We must eat and drink of Christ's body and blood to have HIS life in us. (When the Jews understood that Christ literally meant

what He said, they all left Him, except Peter and the apostles, who did not understand it but accepted it in faith!)

"Therefore, whoever eats this bread or drinks this cup of the Lord unworthily will be guilty of sins against the body and blood of the Lord" (I Corinthians 11:23-30).

St. Paul understood this to be the living "body and blood" of Christ.

For 2,000 years, Catholics have believed that at the Last Supper and at every repetition of the Last Supper (the Mass), bread and wine are changed into the body and blood of Our Lord. We do not understand it, but believe it because we have faith in HIS words!

Could Christ do any less than truly be with us and in us? The Mass is clearly documented in Acts 2:42:

"And they continued steadfastly in the <u>teaching of the</u> <u>Apostles</u> and in the <u>Communion of the breaking of the bread</u> and in <u>prayers."</u>

Today, we are somewhat more formal, but the Mass still is exactly the same, in essence, as it was 2,000 years ago.

"And upon the first day of the week, when the disciples came together for the breaking of the bread, Paul preached unto them, ready to depart on the morrow; and continued his speech until midnight" (Acts 20:7).

They performed this ritual at least once a week, on "the first day," which they called "The Lord's Day;" and the Church has continued to keep holy this "Lord's Day" since the time of the apostles. In I Corinthians 2:23-26, St. Paul uses essentially the same words as the priest uses today; it is a re-presenting of the Last Supper, etc.

(Note) That at the first feast of the "Passover" (Exodus 12: 42-51) the Jews were instructed to eat of the sacrificial lamb. Any stranger dwelling with them, who keeps "The Phase of the Lord" and is circumcised "then shall he celebrate according to the manners" i.e. only those who had accepted the doctrine of the Jews, and were circumcised according to the law of Moses could partake of the Passover meal. Circumcision to the Jews was like baptism is to christians.

This tradition is followed in the Catholic Church: a person must accept the doctrine of the church and Bible to be baptized, and to be able to receive Holy Communion (and be free from mortal sin)

Baptism

"Go teach all nations, baptizing them in the name of

the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit" (John 3:5-7); also Matthew 28:18-20.

"Unless you are born again of the water and the spirit, you shall not enter into the Kingdom of Heaven" (Mark 16:15).

Catholics truly believe that when we are baptized, we are literally adopted into the family of Christ, are cleansed of all sin, and given an inheritance into everything that is Christ. It is our initiation into community but is also far more than that.

The Church has always taught that baptism is necessary for salvation.

"Therefore through one man, sin entered the "world . . . has passed to all men" (Romans 5:12-14).

The blood of Jesus cleanses us from sin (I John 1:7-8).

Without the shedding of blood, there is no forgiveness of sin (Hebrews 9:22-28).

"If we say that we have not sinned, we make Him a liar, and His word is not in us" (I John 1:10).

"We know that whosoever is born of God sinneth not; but he that is begotten of God keepeth himself, and that wicked one toucheth him not" (I John 5:18).

"Faith depends on hearing, and on hearing the Word of Christ" (Romans 10:17).

Perhaps the most serious sin of all is to deny original sin, because then we deny the need of a Savior, and the need for baptism. Baptism, then, would become only our initiation into a club or group.

Divorce

"What God has joined together, let no man put asunder" (Mark 10:2).

"Whoever puts away his wife and marries another commits adultery" (Mark 10:12).

"And he who marries a woman who has been put away commits adultery" (Luke 16:18).

"If a woman departs from her husband...she is to remain unmarried or be reconciled to her husband" (I Corinthians 7:10-11).

It is not the Church that has made these laws!

Christ instituted these laws and if we are to continue as the Church of Christ, we must continue in these teachings on divorce!

Yes, at times it is very difficult to abide by this law commanded by Christ; but it is God's law, and each of us —society in general and children in particular— would greatly benefit if we as unselfish, mature adults approached marriage in this state of commitment.

Lying, Or False Teachers, Or Dissident Theologians

Lying, false teachers and dissident theologians cause confusion within the Church (I Timothy 6:3-5; 2 Timothy 3:1-9).

"Beloved, believe not every spirit, but try the spirits whether they are of God: because many false prophets are gone out into the world.

"But knew ye the Spirit of God: Every spirit that confesseth that Jesus Christ is come in the flesh is of God:" (I John 4:1-2).

"Do not be led away by various and strange doctrines" (Hebrews 13:7).

"Watch those who cause dissension . . . contrary to doctrine...they serve their own belly" (Romans 16:17).

2 Peter 2: read entire chapter, especially verses 17 to 19:

"They are springs without water . . . they promise them freedom, whereas they themselves are the slaves of corruption:"

"Do not use freedom as a cloak for vice" (1 Peter 2:17).

"Anyone who advances and does not abide in the doctrine of Christ has not God . . . do not receive him into your house or say to him Welcome . . . then you share in his evil works" (2 John 8:11).

"Professing to be wise, they have become fools" (Romans 1:22).

Read the introduction to the Epistle of St. Jude; it is directed against those who oppose all law and authority.

"These men also defile the flesh, disregard authority .

- . . haughty in speech . . . walking according to their lust...set themselves apart" (Jude 5:19).
- St. Paul voices stem condemnation to those who are preaching other doctrines:

"But even if we or an angel from heaven should preach a gospel to you other than that which we have preached to you, let him be anathema."

"For am I seeking to please God...or man" (Galatians 1:6-10).

Today, many teachers are bringing us "false doctrines." We must know our faith or lose it!

The Commandments

Jesus said,

"But if thou will enter into eternal life, keep the Commandments" (Matthew 19:16-22). Which ones? All of them!

Also covered in Luke 10:25-30.

"I have not come to destroy the Law or the Prophets .

.. but to fulfill ... whoever does away with one of these least Commandments, and so teaches men, shall be called least" (Matthew 5:17-22).

We must love God above all else, and our neighbors as our/selves. However, this law of Love does not replace the Commandments, rather it fulfills them (Mark 12:28-34).

"If you love Me, keep My Commandments" (John 14:15).

"He who has MY Commandments and keeps them, he it is who loves me" (John 14:21).

"If anyone loves Me, he will keep My word (John 14:23).

For 2,000 years, Catholics have believed that Christ poured out into His apostles His own spirit of love and forgiveness of sin, so that they became "an extension of Himself." Christ Himself, working through them, changes bread and wine into His own body 'and blood, and through them takes the burden of our sins onto Himself on the cross.

Therefore, He is not a God "way out there," but rather a very personal God who wants to touch us in a one-to-one relationship. When we are "touched by Christ" in this one-to-one personal relationship, and the appropriate sign is present, we call this a "sacrament," i.e., a "sacred moment" when we are personally "touched" by Our Lord.

Also, the priesthood does not come from man or by man or community, but only from God through the apostleship of Christ.

God Works Through Holy Things

"And God worked more than the usual miracles by the hand of Paul so that even handkerchiefs and aprons were carried from his body to the sick, and the disease left them and the evil spirits went out" (Acts 19:11-12).

SUMMATION OF OUR FAITH

God: We know that God exists because of creation, miracles, and fulfilled prophecies; one God, three divine persons. Bible: We know that it is God's word because of miracles, fulfilled prophecies and the words of Christ Himself in reference to teachings, commandments, happenings, etc., of the Old Testament.

Christ: We know Christ is "The Messiah, Son of God, God Himself" because of miracles; His conception, life and death were foretold in biblical prophecies, as was His RESURRECTION; also, through his own proclamations, he acknowledged He was Christ.

Mary: The ever virgin, mother of Christ; the most perfect of all of God's creations. In all of scripture, she is the only human called "Blessed."

Reason for Christ: He came to teach us what we must know about God and His Kingdom — we call them matters of faith: and He came to teach us what our conduct must be toward our bodies! and each other — we call them matters of morals.

Christ came to guide us, give us definitive guidelines and authority so we would not be led astray. He came to sanctify us — cleanse us of our sins and make us worthy to be in His Kingdom.

Reason for Church: Christ wished that this teaching, authority and sanctification continue in the world and throughout the whole world for all time. So, He structured His Church with the twelve apostles as an extension of Himself in His teaching; He gave the Church, the sacraments, and the priesthood, an extension of Himself, in sanctifying us; He gave us St. Peter as an extension of His authority so that we would not be led astray.

And finally, He promised to us that the Holy Spirit would guide and guard this Church for all time (St. John 14:15-21; St. John 15:26; St. John 16:12-16).

Although glorified now at the right hand of the Father, the Lord Jesus remains in the world through the Church, "His Body."

"Even as thou has sent me into the world, so I have also sent them into the world. And for them I sanctify myself, that they also may be sanctified in truth; yet not only for these do I pray, but for those also who through their words are to believe in me, that all may be one, even as thou Father in me, and I in Thee, that they may also be one in us . . . that they be one, even as we are . . . that they may be perfected in unity. Trust is unity — the one mark of truth is that it is one" (John 17:14-26).

We certainly must acknowledge that there are different ways of expressing one truth (different viewpoints, i.e., acceptable pluralism); however, we must always be alert that some so-called "different viewpoints" are not really "different doctrines."

The Holy Spirit: Christ founded, structured, taught and sanctified His Church so that it would be a continuation of Himself in the world.

But the Church did not go anywhere.

There was not one sermon or one conversion until the Holy Spirit came upon them.

The Holy Spirit, then, is the energizing and guiding force in the Church and brings to us all that is Christ. At the Last Supper, Our Lord said to His apostles "The Holy Spirit will teach you all things...he will declare to you what is mine."

We see, then, that the blessed Trinity — one God, and three divine persons — functions in an individual yet "collective way."

God the Father is Creator, and creation still goes on with each new soul; God the Son is our way (our only way) of redemption and salvation (and creation would be meaningless if 'we had no way of salvation); God the Holy Spirit brings to us all that is our salvation (without Him the Church would cease to function).

Is the Church biblical in its structure?

Does it have bishops? (Apostolic succession to the apostles.)

Does it have priests? (Presbyters who are a continuation of the priesthood of Christ.) (Acts 15, 6.)

Does it have deacons? (Acts 6.)

Does it have one whom the early church recognized as being in authority by appointment of Christ? (Acts 15.)

Yes it does, and has so functioned since the time of Christ! Does it demand that we accept the teaching of Christ literally on divorce & remarriage; obeying the commandments; forgiveness of sin through its priest; bringing us the Body and Blood of Christ, so that He can be with us and in us, as Jesus commanded at the Last Supper; and that He continues in the world, in and through His church, <u>His Body</u>?

Yes it does.

11 – YOUR JOURNEY HAS NOT ENDED!

As you near the end of this little pilgrim's journey, you have had much to absorb. I pray that God has blessed you as you read this book and that it has given you a deeper understanding of the Catholic Church.

But, this book by no means finishes your search for complete answers; it hopefully served to simply stimulate you on to further study.

Your journey has just begun! Remember that there is nothing more vital than the decisions and study you undertake now; it has eternal implications for your soul.

I repeat the words of our Lord:

"I have not come to judge you or condemn you. . . but to save you. . . He who rejects me, and does not accept my words, has one to condemn him" John 12:44-48).

"If I had not come and spoken to them (to you), you would have no sin. But now you have no excuse for your sin" John 15:22). The books I most heartily recommend for further study on your jour-

ney are:

CATECHISMS:

The Catholic Catechism, John A. Hardon, S.J., Garden City, NY, Doubleday & Co., Inc., 1975.

<u>Catechism of the Catholic Church</u>, St. Paul, The Wander Press, 1994.

<u>Baltimore Catechism #3</u>, Connell, Fr. Francis J., Colorado Springs, The Seraphim Company, Inc., 1991.

PATROLOGY:

<u>The Faith of the Early Fathers</u>, Jurgens, H.E.D., William A., Collegeville, The Liturgical Press, 1970.

<u>Patrology</u>, Quasten, Johannes, Westminister, Christian Classics, Inc., 1990.

APOLOGETICS:

"Essay on the Development of Christian Doctrine," Newman, John Henry, Notre Dame, Notre Dame Press, 1989.

<u>The Catholic Controversy</u>, De Sales, St. Francis, Rockford, Tan Books and Publishers, Inc., 1989.

<u>Catholicism and Fundamentalism</u>, Keating, Karl, San Francisco, Ignatius Press, 1988.

MISCELLANEOUS:

The Catholic Faith, Hardon, S.J., John A., Editor, Ignatius Press

The Catholic Lifetime Reading Plan, Hardon, S.J., John A., New York, Doubleday, 1989.

What Does Scripture Say?, Tom Balboa and Joseph C. Bonadiman, San Bernardino, CA, Catholic Society of Evangelist, 2000.

<u>Summa Theologica</u>, St. Thomas Aquinas, New York, Benziger Brothers, 1947.

<u>Fundamentals of Catholic Dogma</u>, Dr. Ludwig Ott, Rockford, Tan Books & Publishers, Inc., 1974.

Vatican Council II, Boston, Daughters of St. Paul, 1975.

The Canons and Decrees of the Council of Trent, Rockford, Tan Books & Publishers, Inc., 1941.

An Essay on the Development of Christian Doctrine, John Henry Cardinal Newman, Notre Dame, Notre Dame Press, 1989.

<u>Reading in Church History</u>, Westminister, MD, Christian Classics, Inc., 1985.

Radio Replies, The Rev. Dr. Leslie Rumble, MSC & Rev Charles Mortimer Carthy, Rockford, Tan Books & Publishers, Inc., 1938.

Confessions of St. Augustine, Union City, John J. Crawley & Co., 1979.

PUBLISHERS:

Tan Books, P. O. Box 424, Rockford, IL. 61105, (800) 437-5876 Ignatius Press, 2515 McAllister St., San Francisco, CA 94118-0390, (415) 387-2324

MAGAZINES:

The Wanderer, 201 Ohio St, St. Paul, MN 55117

Envoy Magazine, Subscriber Services, New Hope, KY 40052-9989, (800) 55-ENVOY

Homiletic & Pastoral Review, P. O. Box 591810, San Francisco, CA

94159-1810, (800) 353-2324

The Catholic Answer, Fr. Peter Stravinskas, STD, Ph.D., 200 Noll Plaza, Huntington, IN 46750, (800) 348-2440

St. Joseph's Communications, P. O. Box 720, West Covina, CA 91793,

(626) 331-3549

The Catholic World Report, P. O. Box 591300, San Francisco, CA 94159-1300, (800) 651-1531

Catholic Answers, 2020 Gillespie Way, El Cajon, CA 92020, (619) 387-7200.

Sursum-Corda, P. O. Box 2286, Ft. Collins, CO 80522-2286, (970) 490-2735.

Adoremos, P. O. Box 146, Front Royal, VA 22630

TELEVISION:

The Coming Home Network, P. O. Box 4100, Steubenville, OH 43952,

(614) 283-6320.

EWTN, 5817 Old Leeds Road, Irondale, AL, 35210, (205)271-2900.

By all means, *The Catechism of the Catholic Church* (Libreria Editvice Vaticana) which is THE AUTHORITY as to what is Catholic teaching. Any person who does not accept all of the dogmatic and major doctrinal teaching contained in that Catechism does, in fact, reject the authority from which it comes, the successor of St. Peter and the Church Magisterium; and they must identify themselves or be identified as not a Catholic: and, must not be allowed to teach the Catholic faith in any Catholic institution; or Catholic seminars or lecturer sponsored by any Church authority.

The function of the Holy Spirit in the Church is to bring us all that is Christ and His teaching in a pure and certain way (St. John 16,12,16). The sin against the Holy Spirit "which will not be forgiven in this life, or the next life" may well be allowing those to speak in the Church who cause dissension and confusion as to what is the teaching of Christ through the authority of the Church (Matthew 12,32). St. Paul also reminds our Bishops to "beware of the wolves"

who will get in among you, and will not spare the flock" (Acts 20,28,31). St. John also reminds our Bishops "he who does not abide in the doctrine of Christ, has not God...he who welcomes such a man shares in the evil he does" (Second Epistle of St. John, vs. 8,11).

In my opinion second only to the Catholic Catechism itself is "the Catholic Almanac" published by "Our Sunday Visitor Press" not only does it contain Church Doctrine, but history of all the Popes - Anti-popes - Church history and a wealth of other Church related material. A must in every Catholic home.

Through this book, we hope, the road map is now clearer for you, the worldly distractions are less, and your direction is focused. You know your spiritual destination — eternal life. You know your spiritual road map — the Catholic Church, the Holy Bible, and the revelations handed down through Sacred Tradition.

May God's grace abundantly bless you on the rest of your pilgrim's journey.

On page (89) is a very informative analyzes of the late Fr. Ray Brown's approach to the Holy Bible, by a very talented Catholic priest, Fr. Ken Baker, editor of a Catholic periodical called Homiletic& Pastoral Review (which I highly recommend - his editorial alone are worth the price)

Fr. Ray Brown, approached the Holy Bible using the "Historical Critical Method" which in common language might be described as the "Humanist" or "Modernist" approach. This approach "questions or doubts", i.e. does not accept or believe anything that cannot be proven by a scientific fact. I read Fr. Ray Brown's book "One Hundred and One Questions About the Bible" and to say the least it is well titled, many questions, few answers and I share Fr. Ken Bakers conclusion "Therefore if it is consulted, it should be done with great caution." I think Fr. Bakers conclusion is far to charitable. In my opinion I believe that Fr. Ray Brown and this "Historical Critical Approach" is the basic disease that has infected and destroyed the faith of many layman, clergy and resultant collapse of certain orders of priest and nuns; and greatly decreased vocations to the priesthood. (If you cannot believe in everything, can you believe anything??)

The statements in his book, which I assume is shared by those other Bible experts that use this same approach: such as his arrogant statement "we know that Jonas was not swallowed by any fish"

(even though Christ stated that this happened, Matt 12-40); "We have not proof that Mary was always a virgin", or that "we cannot be sure that Jesus said and did all that the Bible credits Him for saying and doing." These and many other disturbing conclusions have only one source of information: Humans realization void of any proof, frequently prove to be in err, they offer little enlightenment but much confusion of Gods word, possibly with the intent of some to lessen or abolish all moral law so that they may continue to live in darkness, "hating the light that their evil deeds may not be exposed". (St. John 3: 20)

This confusing and demoralizing "historical critical approach to the Bible which Pope Leo XII declared in his Encyclical on "The Study of Holy Scripture, in 1893", is an arrogant approach to Bible Study. In my opinion, it is a repeat in modernistic humanistic approach to what the church for two thousand year has infallibly proclaimed is the work of God. (C.C.C. art/125) (both Old Testament and New Testament)

And how has this disastrous approach to the Bible been disseminated and infected so many clergy and layman?

This is the age of seminar and progressive education, some for priest who are required to attend, and some for lay teachers, such as the one in Anaheim, CA every year. And who do they have as speakers? Often those who have been influenced by those who have their degrees in Bible study, in the "Historical Critical Approach to the Bible"

Cleverly using the apparent benign phrase "we cannot be sure" becomes a malignant factor in creating doubt and confusion, and resulting loss of faith; because "if we cannot be sure of everything, then can we be sure of anything!" WE CANNOT PICK AND CHOOSE. "I cannot be sure" is just another way of saying "I do not believe" and if you not believe in mind and heart ever word and deed that is credited to Jesus Christ in the Bible, you are only not a Catholic, you are not even a Christian - do not confuse people by giving any impression that you are: Have the honesty and courage to admit what you are. It is an ALL OR NONE COMMITMENT.

Pope John Paul II strongly requested that all Bishops require that every teacher of Church doctrine, especially guest speakers at church seminars be screened so as to assure his people that they are receiving orthodox instruction according to the Catechism of the Catholic Church, in work and spirit

God instructs Moses, "any teacher (prophet) who being corrupted with pride, shall speak in my name things that I did not command him to say, or in the name of strange gods shall be slain. (Deut.18:20)

What of a Bishop or Cardinal who allows such a person to speak in His diocese, is this not a sin against the Holy Spirit, "which will not be forgiven in this life, or the next"

A simple understanding of a "dissenter" might will be one as described by St. Paul, as one who wishes to amputate a part of the body of "Christ". (So that they are more comfortable in their life style and not have to come to the light, so that their evil deeds may not be known?)(3 St. John 19-20)

They thoroughly disgusted St. Paul and he completely disassociated himself from them. (1 Cor. 2-16)(Gal. 1:1-10)

IS IT CATHOLIC?

For several years I have wanted to read Fr. Raymond E. Brown's huge volume, *An Introduction to the New Testament* (Doubleday, 1997). Recently I found the time to tackle this impressive piece of scholarship which runs to almost 900 pages. When the book appeared it received much praise from other well-known biblical scholars. Those who praised it, of course, hold the same views of exegesis and critical scholarship as Fr. Brown.

For each of the 27 books of the New Testament the author presents a short outline, an analysis of the contents; after that he deals with the authorship, date of writing, audience to which it was addressed, related questions of style; finally he offers a very limited bibliography for each book, restricting himself to books and articles published since about 1960.

The summary of the contents of each book of the NT is excellent. Fr. Brown also gives an impressive account of scholarly opinion on each book as of the time of writing, which would be 1995-1996. He summarizes by saying that "scholars" today hold such and such, often without giving any names. That is fair enough since this is only an "introduction" to the NT, not a complete commentary.

Fr. Raymond Brown, who died a few years ago, was a Catholic priest. As a Catholic priest and scholar presumably he was a Catholic scripture scholar and theologian. What is lacking in this impressive volume, in my opinion, is any sense of its being a Catholic introduction to the New Testament. The author seems to have bracketed out, almost completely, his Catholic faith from his critical scholarship.

The Bible contains the inspired Word of God. Everything in it was guided by the Holy Spirit. The Bible contains God's revelation to man – where we came from, why we are here, what our eternal destiny is. It is all summed up in Jesus Christ, the incarnate Word of God, who is the way, the truth, and the life. There are no errors in the Bible and the Gospels record for us true history – what Jesus actually did and said.

For a Catholic, the rules for interpreting the Bible are clear: it must be done according to the living Tradition of the Church and under the authority of the Magisterium of the Church. None of this is visible in the way Fr. Brown approaches the NT. He uses the historical-critical method on the Bible as one would on any ancient writing, such as the works of Plato or Aristotle or Cicero. He cuts each book up into many pieces, but he does not put it back together again. The religious aspect, that the Bible should nourish faith, is almost completely ignored.

What is especially noteworthy is his late dating of the books of the NT. Also, according to Fr. Brown, most of the books in the NT were not written by those whose names are on them. Thus, Matthew did not write Matthew, Mark did not write Mark, John the Apostle did not write John, Paul wrote only seven of the fourteen letters attributed to him, and so forth. The implication throughout is that Jesus did not say and do what the Gospels attribute to them: St. Paul did not say and do what the letters say, and so forth. I do not doubt the Catholic faith of Fr. Brown, but his rationalistic scholarship, in my opinion, is a recipe for skepticism. Catholic theology is supposed to nourish and deepen faith, not call it into question.

Vatican II (Revelation #12) and the new Catechism (CCC #111-114) say that Catholics should be attentive "to the content and unity of the whole of Scripture"; and they should be attentive to the "analogy of faith" which means the coherence of the truths of faith among themselves and within the whole plan of Revelation. Those principles must govern any Catholic explanation of the Bible. All three are missing in this book. Therefore, if it is consulted, it should be done so with great caution.

—Kenneth Baker, S.J., *Editor* HOMILETIC & PASTORAL REVIEW

Reprinted with permission Jan. 2003

To those Bible Scholars, who approach the bible in the so called "Historical Critical Method", i.e. as you would Aristotle or Pluto, questioning everything including "The words and deeds of Jesus", or that "Mary was always a virgin"; the answer to them is simple and profound: (See Page A) Jesus the Christ, the Son of God, certainly possessed the judgement to choose men, he would know, had the ability to remember, understand and to accurately pass on by word and writing all that He taught and did. Remember also that they were taught for three years personally by the master of all knowledge and truth, what He wanted to be available for all future generations, (and taught to St. Paul by His personal Revelation: Gal. 1,12). In addition Christ promised that he would not leave them orphans, but would send the Holy Spirit to bring to their mind all that He taught and did. (St. John 14: 26; 16:13)

This promise was obviously fulfilled on the Pentecost, when Peter gave his first "post-Jesus-resurrection" sermon that resulted in 3000 conversions of people of many nations, <u>each hearing in his own tongue</u>. (Acts chapter 2) And on another day, five thousand. (Acts 4: 4)

IMPLEMENTING THE NEW CATECHISM

By Fr. Kenneth Baker, S.J. Editor, *Homiletic and Pastoral Review* (Reprinted with permission from the *Homiletic and Pastoral Review*)

The new *Catechism of the Catholic Church* (CCC) is available for purchase and study in English translation. Readers of HPR are already familiar with the structure and basic content of the CCC. I do not think it is necessary for me to try to convince you about the great importance of this amazing book. It is just what the Church needs in this time of crisis. Given the known opposition to the Catechism from dissenters in the field of theology, liturgy and catechetics, the fact that it was produced at all manifests, to me, the guidance of the Holy Spirit and the abiding presence of Our Lord in His Church (Matthew 28:20).

The one point I want to stress in this editorial is the importance of the proper and faithful *implementation* of the Catechism. I say this because there are influential and well-known people in the Catholic Church who are not happy with this Catechism. They will do everything they can to put it on a dusty shelf or ignore it, just as they have ignored previous Vatican documents such as the Pope's letter on the family, *Familiaris Consortio* (1981).

Some have said publicly that they will use it "in their own fashion," that is, they will eliminate most of the solid doctrinal and moral *content* of the Catechism and so "adapt" it to the failed experimental religious instruction of the past twenty-five years. But it is precisely because of the failure of the catechetical establishment to teach the Catholic faith that the Catechism was deemed necessary in the first place!

Implementation of the Catechism on all levels of instruction that is what we need and that is what each one of us must strive to do in his own way. What I will do is give the proper references to the Catechism after each homily in HPR. The purpose is to urge preachers to consult the Catechism and use it in their homilies. Cardinal O'Connor of New York has said that he will base his weekly Sunday sermons on the Catechism for the next few years. That is a suggestion I would recommend to all priests and bishops.

Cardinal O'Connor has also said that he has directed every division of the New York Archdiocese to implement the Catechism. I wish every bishop would do that - and then see to it personally that

the order is carried out from grade school to university. For the Catechism is too important to turn over to the experts. One does not have to be an "expert," one does not have to possess an advanced degree in religious education in order to read the Catechism or, for that matter to teach it. The Catechism is very clear and easy to understand. That is one reason the experts do not like it.

Who is opposed to the Catechism? I would like my readers to be crystal clear about this point. Dissenters, not only those opposed to *Humanae Vitae*, but those who reject the Church's teaching on such matters as the Holy Sacrifice of the Mass, the Real Presence, Original Sin, the Sacrament of Holy Orders, the ordination of women to the priesthood and so forth - all of these and their followers are opposed, in one way or another to the Catechism. Why? Because the Catechism clearly states for all to see what the truth is and they reject it. Many of them are not really Catholics at all; they pretend to be Catholics for the sake of power, prestige and money.

It is important to realize that there will be a battle over the proper implementation of the CCC. I hope that each one of you will do what you can to get the Catechism into schools, CCD, RCIA and every area of Catholic instruction. As our Pope has said, the Catechism is "a great gift of God" to the Church. It is up to us to implement it.

Choosing a Catholic college

One of the most important choices that Catholic parents make for their children is the selection of a college or university. For it is during the college years that the thinking and moral values of students are formed and will influence them for the rest of their life. At this time mere are 224 colleges in the USA that claim to be Catholic. The problem is, as many parents now know, to their sorrow, that most of them are Catholic in name only. They publicly give lip service to the Catholic faith, but it is not promoted or defended in many or even most of the courses offered.

During the past forty years many parents have sacrificed greatly to send their son or daughter to a "Catholic" college, only to discover after three or four years that their children have lost their faith after being exposed to dissident, agnostic and even atheistic professors who contradict and ridicule fundamental Catholic doctrines such as the divinity of Christ, the sanctity of marriage, and the Real Presence of Jesus in the Blessed Sacrament.

Very much aware of this scandalous situation, in 1993 a small group of Catholics formed an organization to promote true Catholicism on college campuses. It is called the Cardinal Newman Society and is located in Manassas, Virginia (9167 Key Commons Court, 20110). Over the years they have studied what goes on at Catholic colleges and have reported about it in their newsletter to supporters. Much of it is shocking, especially vile dramas and the presence of anti-Catholic and pro-abortion invited speakers and politicians.

Thirty years ago I was saying that we need an objective evaluation of our Catholic colleges on the basis of their Catholicity; that is, do they actually teach Catholic doctrine and morals, and is the living situation in the dormitories conducive to leading a chaste and moral life? That means, in practice, no drugs, no alcohol and no visiting hours when young men and women are allowed to be alone in dormitory rooms. Also it means that die rules governing the dormitories are really enforced and are not just for show to impress parents, as happens in all too many Catholic colleges.

Now there is some real help for parents. The Cardinal Newman Society has recently published a book that evaluates the Catholicity of twenty-one colleges and universities. Each college gets about ten pages dealing with such things as the curriculum, spiritual life on the

campus, Catholicism in the classroom, student activities, residential life and the quality of the community in which the college is located (that is, is it safe or unsafe). All these colleges are recommended as being schools that will help students grow in their faith and grow intellectually.

The colleges are divided into three classes: 1) Joyfully Catholic; 2) Born from me Crisis; and 3) Fighting the Tide. Those in the first category are fully Catholic, such as Christendom College (Virginia) and Thomas Aquinas College (California). The second category refers to new colleges that have been founded since Vatican II in response to the crisis in Catholic education, such as Ave Maria University (Florida) and Wyoming Catholic College (Lander). The third category includes colleges that drifted toward secularism in the 1970s and 1980s and are now trying to come back and are making progress, such as the Catholic University of America (Washington, D.C.) and Mount St. Mary's University (Maryland).

Most of the colleges are small; the reader will note immediately that the only large Catholic university included is the Catholic University of America. So this means that about 10 percent of the colleges are recommended.

The title of the book is: The Newman Guide to Choosing a Catholic College: What to Look for and Where to Find It (\$19.95). This book is good news for parents who want to send their children to a Catholic college that is truly Catholic. I recommend the book highly for priests and counselors who deal with high school graduates who are looking for a Catholic college. It is the hope of the Cardinal Newman Society that they will be able to add more colleges in the future that are "fighting the tide."

—Kenneth Baker, S.J., Editor HOMILETIC & PASTORAL REVIEW

Subscription Department

P.O. Box 46 Bathgate, ND 58216-9988

\$26.00/year

Un-Catholic and Anti-Catholic Groups – Some Who Call Themselves "Catholic"

I think here it is well and proper to give at least a general guideline to various groups and what we can expect from them:

Atheist: Believe in no God or Spiritual power or presence. The universe and all that IS, just happened.

Modernist (Humanist): Believe that there may be a God, or supernatural force of creation but this God has no direct contact with us. i.e. a vacuum between God and man. Therefore we are left unto ourselves to decide what is right or wrong. Right or wrong is decided by our "experience" only, therefore: there is no Revelation from God (the Bible came only from the minds of men); there is no original sin; there are no miracles; Christ really was not God; we do not have to accept Papal or church laws or moral conduct, etc. Putting this in practical application: we can divorce, remarry, practice artificial birth control, have abortions, masturbate, fornicate and have homosexual sexual relations, women priests, etc. According to a full page ad in the "National Catholic Reporter", January 31, 1997 representative who claimed to be members of the following group who subscribe to some or all of these positions, signed on as part of a "National Task Force of We Are Church Coalition" group, encouraging Catholics to write to the Pope, requesting that the Church reverse its decision on these matters (as if it could!) These groups were listed as follows:

Members of this "we are church" Coalition as listed in the "National Catholic Reporter" are: 1. Association for the Rights of Catholics in the Church. 2. Call to Action. 3. Catholics Speak Out/Qiixote Centr. 4. CORPUS (National Association for a Married Priesthood). 5. Dignity/USA. 6. Federation of Christian Ministries. 7. New Way Ministry. 8. Priests For Equality. 9. Pax Christi/Maine. 10. Women's Ordination Conference. (Are these not one and the same as the "Common Ground" group?)

Many of these groups still call themselves Catholic – why? I do not know. My greatest complaint against our hierarchy is their refusal to implement the directive by the Holy Father that all who teach; from the bishop through the priest, university and high school and grade school teacher, and those on the lecture circuit take this pledge to teach in word and spirit only that which is teaching of the magisterium as given to us in the Catholic Catechism. And those

who will not take and keep this pledge to be barred from all Catholic teaching positions or lecturing in any Catholic program, and be denied Holy Communion in their church and be identified and named as Not Catholic: These are the ones causing by far the most confusion and scandal in the church today. Any bishop who does not enforce this should be immediately replaced. Yes, this may cause a great schism, but how long can the churches go on with the two masters: The servant of Christ or the servant of Satan!

The great schism that this may cause might be a great thing: It just might cause the rotten-apple (dissidents) and dead leaves (inactive lay person) to fall from the tree of truth, so that in the next spring a pruned strong tree "can blossom forth, freed from confusion and dissent and negativeness, and produce a hundred-fold!

If you are unable to afford the cost of these books, please contact the Catholic Society of Evangelists. www.catholic-soc.org

My final thought:

If God could not get His words written down the way He wanted them, then He would not be much of a God.

If Christ could not give us, and continue in, 'one' church that He structured and Sanctified in His blood, would I call Him Saviour?

We recognize, as Christians that there was one true religion until the time of Christ and He came to fulfill and sanctify that one church that would continue for all time. Until fifteen-twenty there was only one Christian Church and in spite of imperfect men along the way, it has remained true to the teachings of Christ for almost 2000 years, and it will be that one church until the end of time.

Let no one lead you astray with idle words, distorted interpretations, humanistic experiences or emotional rationalization.

P.S. It is quite obvious, my contempt for "dissenting theologians." My reason is that I think that they are a very major factor in the weakening of the church since Vat. II and resulting in the almost total collapse of sexual moral practices in our society, and yet they identify themselves as something they are not: Roman Catholics.

Please read page 87 & 88, an article by one far more knowledgeable than I, and respected the world over: Father Ken Baker S.S.

I do not think the Church can make much progress to normalcy till these "dissenting theologians" are formally ex-communicated from the Church.

Most Reverend Fabian Bruskewitz of Lincoln, Nebraska has announced that any of those who supports or belongs to any so called Catholic dissenting lay-groups, ARE excommunicated from the Catholic Church and according to "The Wanderer Press" The Church in Rome supports and applauds such actions!

Dissenting Groups:

St. Paul had to deal with them (1 Cor 1: 11-16) and became so disgusted at them "dividing up Christ" (i.e.deleting or changing certain teachings, etc.) that he totally disassociated himself from them (vs.14-15). "I thank God that I baptized none of you least you say that you were baptized in my name". Are you not mere men? (1 Cor 2:16)(1 Gal. 1: 6-10)

In essence are not all of the dissenters from the time of St. Paul to Martin Luther, Henry VIII, (usually involving moral laws) down to present dissenters with in the Catholic Church, and without are they not trying to do that which even the Holy Spirit may not do, that is amputate parts of the Body of Christ. (HIS CHURCH) "THE HOLY SPIRIT WILL TEACH YOU ALL TRUTH, FOR HE WILL NOT SPEAK ON HIS AUTHORITY, BUT WHAT HE WILL HEAR HE WILL SPEAK.... HE WILL RECEIVE WHAT IS MINE AND DECLARE IT TO YOU.... FOR HE WILL NOT SPEAK ON HIS OWN AUTHORITY. (JOHN16: 12-16)

So any mere man who does so, is he inspired by the Holy Spirit???

So should not the sincere prayer of every Christian BE: That the every part of the Body of Christ be reunited again under one head.

To order reprints of this book, please contact:

Catholic Society of Evangelists

11755 Preston Rd. Grand Terrace, CA 92313 - USA www.catholic-soc.org

1 BOOK = \$5.00

For a CD (90 Minutes) upon which this book is based, ADD \$2.00 ADDITIONAL.

For five or more books, add \$2.00 per book, plus \$1.00 each for each CD - if you wish both.

All persons working with the Society are volunteers, and all money received goes to production and distribution of Orthodox Roman Catholic literature and tapes which are based on the teachings of the Magisterium of the Church as outlined in the Official Catechism of the Catholic Church

Neither the author nor other workers receive any compensation from the proceeds of these books or tapes.

We do ask for your prayers for us, our families and benefactors living and deceased.

Fourth Edition Printed by:

A to Z Printing Company 4330 Van Buren Blvd. Riverside. CA 92503



MOST REVEREND FULTON J. SHEEN, D. D. TITULAR ARCHBISHOP OF NEWPORT

July 13, 1976

Franklin J. Daley, M.D. 3875 Jackson Street, Suite 18 Riverside, California 92503

Dear Dr. Daley:-

I commend you very highly not only for the chagrin you feel at the Heart of Christ being wounded in His Church, but also because of your positive zeal to further the Gospel.

As a doctor of medicine you bring your freshness to the presentation of faith which is sometimes absent from those who are so used to theological formulas.

I have read through your presentation of the Church and I commend you very highly for its orthodoxy. Because of a tremendous pressure of work and travel, I am unable to undertake the rewriting or the reviewing of your paper. I am sure you understand this for each month there are hundreds who send in their manuscripts for my review.

Pray to the Holy Spirit that a door may be opened for the utilization of your zeal and your knowledge. I assure you of remembrance in my prayers.

With prayers and blessings, I am

Faithfully yours in Christ,

Jeetn fleen

HERE'S WHAT OTHERS ARE SAYING

"Dr. Dailey, as a lay Theologian, not only explains the basic teachings of our faith in perfect accord with the Magisterium, but does so in a clear and appealing way that deepens one's faith and sears itself into one's memory, never to be forgotten. Would that there were more theologians with as clear a grasp of authentic Catholic doctrine..."

Rev. Msgr. A.F. Gramer, S.S. Peter and Paul Rectory, Tucson, Arizona

"God has given you a splendid gift for setting forth the truths of our faith clearly and precisely. And oh, how this is needed in these times of crisis and confusion in church catechetics... There is an obvious lack of vigorous leadership and of solid conviction about orthodoxy among too many who should be teaching our Catholic Faith today. So many ignore the shining example of Our Holy Father in Rome. God can and will use you for His glory and the good of souls as long as you give Him a free hand."

Rev. Leo Slatterie, Pastor, Holy Child Church, Caliente, Nevada

"This is the best common-sense, down-to-earth, easy-to-understand, orthodox overview of Protestant and Catholic beliefs that I have, as a priest of fifty years experience, ever read. I gained new and deeper understandings of Christ and His teachings. This is must reading for every Catholic of all ages, clergy included."

Reverend Raymond McKee, C.S.S.R., St. Louis, Missouri

"... I finally had time to sit down and listen to the tape you left with me. After hearing the first few minutes I said, "Good." After another few minutes I said, "Very good." After a few more minutes, I said "Excellent," and when it was completed I said, "This material and its presentation was marvelous."... I found myself wishing you lived in Little rock and were available to talk to the boys at your alma mater."

Fr. George W. Tribou, Catholic High School for Boys, Little Rock, Arkansas

(Note: This book is an expanded, written version of Dr. Dailey's highly acclaimed tape, discussed in the above letters.)